
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Civic Affairs 
 

Date:  Wednesday, 2 February 2022 

Time:  5.30 pm 

Venue:  Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 
3QJ 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 3 - 8) 

4    Public Questions  

5    External Auditor's Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2021 (Pages 9 - 40) 

6    2021/22 Statement of Accounts - Accounting 
Policies and Significant Areas of Judgement (Pages 41 - 50) 

7    Appointing Person: Arrangements for the 
Appointment of the External Auditor (Pages 51 - 60) 

8    Draft Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 (Pages 61 - 74) 

9    Risk Management - Committee Update (Pages 75 - 
102) 

10    Amendments to the Constitution Pt4A Appendix F 
(A) - Protocol on Media Relations 

(Pages 103 - 
114) 

11    Members' Allowances/Parental Leave Policy/Virtual 
Area Committees 

(Pages 115 - 
140) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Civic Affairs Members: Sargeant (Chair), Davey (Vice-Chair), Dryden, 
Flaubert, Gehring and O'Reilly 

Alternates: Dalzell and Moore 
 

Information for the public 

The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public. 

 

For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 

 
Public health and well-being for meeting arrangements 

Whilst the situation with COVID-19 is on-going, the Council will be following 
the latest Government guidance in organising and holding its meetings. 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. Those 
wishing to address the meeting will also be able to do so virtually via 
Microsoft Teams. Given the ambition to limit numbers of people attending the 
meeting in person to reduce the risk of infections, we would encourage 
members of the public who wish to address the Committee to do so virtually.   
 
Should you have to attend in person, we always ask you to maintain social 
distancing and maintain your face covering unless you are exempt or when 
speaking at the meeting. Hand sanitiser will be available on entry to the 
meeting. 
 
If members of the public wish to address the committee either virtually or in 
person, you must  contact Democratic Services 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two working days before 
the meeting. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Civic Affairs Civ/1 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

1 

CIVIC AFFAIRS 22 September 2021 
 5.30  - 7.20 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Sargeant (Chair), Davey (Vice-Chair), Dryden and 
Gehring 
 
Officers: 
Caroline Ryba-Head of Finance,  
Jody Etherington- Deputy Head of Finance,  
Francesca Lawton-Senior Accountant,  
Jonathan Tully-Head of Shared Internal Audit,  
Stephanie Fisher-Principal Internal Auditor,  
Mark Hodgson EY (External Auditor),  
Eleanor Dent-Deputy Data Protection Officer,  
Gary Clift-Democratic Services Manager 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

21/25/Civ Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors O’Reilly and Flaubert and the 
Council’s Independent Person, Rob Bennett. 

21/26/Civ Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations made. 

21/27/Civ Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2021 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

21/28/Civ Public Questions 
 
There were no public questions. 

21/29/Civ Internal Audit Plan: Progress Report 
 
The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report.  The completed audits on 
pages 14 and 15 were highlighted and it was noted that there would be a 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Civic Affairs Civ/2 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

2 

continuing requirement to report back to both Government and HMRC on the 
range of business grants allocated throughout the pandemic. 
 
Members asked the following: 

i) Has the Council encountered fraud of any scale yet with regards the 
Covid business grants? 

ii) Remind how shared services are audited? 
iii) Could strategic risks be linked to assurance work mand could the 

committee pick this up? 
iv) What is the Council’s oversight of independent companies eg Cambridge 

Investment Partnership? 
v) Is the service on track to deliver the Audit Plan by the end of the financial 

year and are the team’s resources sufficient? 
 
The Head of Internal Audit replied in order of the above: 
 

i) Serious and organised fraud is reported to the National Anti-Fraud 
Network and Central Government, as it is likely not to be exclusive to 
Cambridge. We have referred cases and although we are not currently 
aware of any proven fraud at this stage it is likely there will be evidence 
of some in the longer term. 

ii) Referring to the Payroll audit and shared services reviews, it is usual for 
the lead authority to commission the audit and then the other partner 
councils will be informed of the results. 

iii) There are synergies between risk management and the internal audit 
risk-based plan, also reflected in the strategy and framework later on the 
agenda (minute 21/33/Civ). 

iv) Separate and independent entities will have their own governance 
arrangements. Our Governance Framework, reported in the Annual 
Governance Statement, will reflect their assurance processes where 
possible, and the outcome of any reviews we have completed. 

v) It was difficult to say with certainty due to the potential external factors 
and rapid pace of change. Completion of the plan assumes both the 
resilience in the team, and the availability of the teams being audited. 

 
Resolved- 
 
To note the contents of the report. 

21/30/Civ Annual Governance Statement 
 
The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report. 

Page 4



Civic Affairs Civ/3 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

3 

 
Resolved – 
 
To note the arrangements for compiling, reporting on and signing the AGS; the 
progress made on issues reported in the previous year; the current review of 
effectiveness; the issues considered for inclusion in the current AGS. 
 
To note and endorse the amendments to the updated Local Code of Corporate 
Governance 

21/31/Civ Statement of Accounts 2020/21 
 
The Senior Accountant introduced the report.  An amendment to 
recommendation 2.2 and a supplementary report had been published earlier in 
the day and was also tabled.  The Committee had been advised that the 
amendment was a result of an updated valuation of the Council’s pension fund 
assets from the scheme actuary. The officers were anticipating sign off by 30 
September, although the late update may delay matters slightly. 
 
Mr Hodgson for the Council’s External Auditor (EY) made the following 
comments: 
 

i) The Council and EY had worked well, with the Council providing a good 
set of papers this year which helped enormously.  He was hopeful of 
completion by 30 September.  Commentary in Appendix E will go in the 
Annual Auditor’s Report. 

ii) Page 228 illustrated the explanation of the outstanding work on the 
pensions valuations/disclosures which should be resolved by 30 
September. 

iii) Pages 240-247 illustrated an overall unqualified opinion, in summary the 
Council was in a good place. 

 
Members congratulated the finance team and EY on a productive and timely 
audit and the Chair asked that Members’ appreciation be passed onto the 
council officer and EY teams who had worked on this. 
 
Resolved –  
 
To receive the Audit Results Report presented by EY. 
 

Page 5



Civic Affairs Civ/4 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

4 

That the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021 (as 
amended by appendix 1 to the supplementary report) be approved subject to 
any remaining amendments per recommendation below 
 
That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Spokes, to 
approve any amendments to the Statement of Accounts arising from the 
remaining audit procedures, provided that these do not have a material impact 
on the Council’s usable reserves or result in any changes to the auditor’s 
opinion. 
 
That the Chair be authorised to sign the Letter of Representation and the 
Statement of Accounts for the year ending 31 March 2021 on behalf of the 
Council. 

21/32/Civ Annual Report on Counter Fraud and Corruption 
 
The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report. 
 
Members asked the following: 
 

i) Is there a phone-line to report fraud? 
ii) Have there been whistleblowers this year? 
iii) Is there a need to provide educational communication, to be proactive 

and prevent fraud? 
 
The Head of Internal Audit replied in order: 
 

i) There was a dedicated external line which is managed by the Fraud and 
Enforcement Team. 

ii) There had been two whistleblowers this year. 
iii) We help staff to be vigilant and aware of fraud risks by promoting 

information on the Council’s intranet pages. 
 
Resolved- 
 
To note the contents of the report. 

21/33/Civ Risk Management Strategy and Framework 
 
The Principal Internal Auditor introduced the report. 
 
Members asked the following: 

Page 6



Civic Affairs Civ/5 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

5 

 
i) How does Audit work with senior management to get buy-in and what 

training is given? 
ii) If officers make changes, could the document have a change log so the 

Committee can follow the iterations? 
iii) Will the committee receive a report on the key strategic risks facing the 

Council with scoring/mitigations/actions required? 
iv) Can the committee receive a review after 6 months of how things are 

going? 
v) How do we share risk management of shared services? 

 
The officers answered in order: 
 

i) The draft Strategy and Framework was shared with the Senior 
Leadership Team and Senior Management Team for their input.  Internal 
Audit are currently working with them to update all corporate and service 
risk and generate a renewed focus on risk management.  Internal Audit 
are planning further support to managers/Heads of Service on the usage 
of the Risk Register in the form of formal and ad-hoc training. Heads of 
Service have been asked to identify/nominate officers to attend training.  
The Risk Management Intranet pages have also been enhanced to 
provide more information and support for officers 

ii) Yes 
iii) Roles and responsibilities are set out in the Framework. Executive 

Councillors should be aware of the key risks in their area through 
discussion with their Heads of Service.  The role of the Committee is to 
review the Strategy, and the Framework.  Officers will consider the 
Committee’s request to be sighted on the key strategic risks and how 
that can be achieved. 

iv) Yes 
v) Shared Service risks are reported to the Shared Service Board. 
 
Resolved- 
 
To approve the revised Risk Management Strategy and Framework 
(appendix a) and agree that officers can make subsequent minor updates 
and amendments. 

21/34/Civ Freedom Of Information, Data Protection And Transparency: 
Annual Report 2020/21 
 
The Deputy Data Protection Officer introduced the report. 

Page 7



Civic Affairs Civ/6 Wednesday, 22 September 2021 

 

 
 
 

6 

 
In response to a question, the officer undertook to see if FoI could be better 
highlighted on the website although stating that the vast majority were received 
via email. 
 
The Committee thanked the officer for a comprehensive report. 
 
Resolved- 
 
That the report was noted 

21/35/Civ Calendar of Meetings 2022/23 
 
The Democratic Services Manager introduced the report.  The committee was 
advised that recommendation 2.1 was withdrawn and the committee would 
review the decision to hold virtual area committees at its February 2022 
meeting in accordance with the Council decision of 28 May 2021. 
 
The Committee was advised that it has been an error to arrange committees in 
September when the political party conferences (Labour and Liberal 
Democrat) took place as it had been avoided in previous years.  A correction 
would be made to the proposed 2022/23 calendar to ensure both were 
avoided. 
 
Resolved- 
 
To agree to an additional council meeting in w/c 28 February or 7 March 2022 
with the already scheduled 24 February 2022 Council dealing with the budget 
only.  The date for the additional meeting to be agreed by the Chief Executive 
in consultation with the Mayor and Group Leaders. 
 
To remove the April 2022 council meeting from the calendar. 
 
To agree the meetings calendar for 2022/23. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7.20 pm 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 8



 

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

To:  
Civic Affairs Committee     02/02/2022 

Report by:  

Jody Etherington, Deputy Head of Finance  

Tel: 01223 - 458130  Email: jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The attached Auditor’s Annual Report from EY (Appendix 1) 

summarises the key issues arising from the external audit of the 2020-
21 Statement of Accounts. 

 
1.2 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires the Auditor’s 

Annual Report to be considered by a committee of the Council. For this 
Council, the relevant committee is the Civic Affairs Committee. 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 To note the contents of the Auditor’s Annual Report for the year ended 

31 March 2021. 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Committee received EY’s Audit Results Report at its meeting on 22 

September 2021. At the time of issuing the report, there were a number 
of areas of outstanding audit work to complete before the Statement of 
Accounts could be signed off. Authority was therefore delegated to the 
Chair, in consultation with the Opposition Spokes, to approve any 
further amendments to the Statement of Accounts (provided that these 
did not have a material impact on the Council’s reserves or result in any 
changes to the auditor’s opinion). 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



3.2 Audit work was completed shortly after the meeting, and the Statement 
of Accounts 2020/21 was authorised for issue by the Head of Finance 
and Chair of the Civic Affairs Committee on 30 September 2021. The 
audit opinion, which was unqualified, was issued on the same date. 

 
3.3 The audited Statement of Accounts was published on the Council’s 

website on 30 September 2021, in line with the statutory deadline. The 
Council was amongst only 9% of local authorities to publish their 
Statement of Accounts on time this year. 

 
3.4 The Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office has 

been revised with effect from 2020/21. The new Code requires auditors 
to publish an Auditor’s Annual Report (replacing the old Annual Audit 
Letter), summarising the results of all of their audit work throughout the 
year. In particular, there is a new requirement to include a commentary 
on the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money against three 
specified reporting criteria. The 2020/21 report is attached at Appendix 
1, and a representative from EY will be present at the meeting to 
answer any questions. 

 
3.5 Per page 26 of the report, the final audit fee for 2020/21 is yet to be fully 

discussed with management. Any additional fee to be charged will need 
to be agreed by PSAA Ltd, in their role as appointing body. The report 
does now confirm the final audit fee in respect of 2019/20, for which the 
PSAA determination process has now been completed.  

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
See paragraph 3.5. 

b) Staffing Implications 
None. 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
None. 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None. 

e) Procurement Implications 
None. 

f) Community Safety Implications 
None. 

Page 10



5. Consultation and communication considerations 
The Auditor’s Annual Report has been published on the Council’s 
website as required by legislation.  

6. Background papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

7. Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Auditor’s Annual Report 2020-21 

8. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact Jody Etherington, Deputy Head of Finance, tel: 01223 - 
458130, email: jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 11

mailto:jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Cambridge City Council

27 October 2021 

Auditor’s Annual Report 

Year ended 31 March 2021

Page 13



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Contents

Cambridge City Council 1

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA 

website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of 

engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin 

and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 

The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply 

with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and 

procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This report is made solely to the Civic Affairs Committee and management of Cambridge City Council in accordance with the statement of 

responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Civic Affairs Committee and management of Cambridge City Council those 

matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Civic Affairs Committee and management of Cambridge City Council for this report or for the opinions we have 

formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the 

service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Hywel 

Ball, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we 

can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of course take matters up with our 

professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

Section Page

01 - Executive Summary 02

02 - Purpose and responsibilities 05

03 - Financial statements audit 07

04 - Value for Money 15

05 – Other reporting issues 23

Appendix 1 – Audit Fees 27

Page 14

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


Ref: EY-000092651-01

Section 1

Executive Summary

Page 15



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Executive Summary: Key conclusions from our 2020/21 audit

Cambridge City Council 3

Area of work Conclusion

Opinion on the Council’s:

Financial statements Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of 

the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2021 and of its 

expenditure and income for the year then ended. The financial 

statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 

in the United Kingdom 2020/21.

We issued our Audit Report on 30 September 2021.

Going concern We have concluded that the Head of Finance’s use of the going 

concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is appropriate.

Consistency of other information 

published with the financial 

statements 

Financial information in the financial statements was consistent 

with the audited accounts.

Area of work

Reports by exception:

Value for money (VFM) We had no matters to report by exception on the Council’s VFM 

arrangements. 

We have included our VFM commentary in Section 04.

Consistency of the annual 

governance statement

We were satisfied that the annual governance statement was 

consistent with our understanding of the Council.

Public interest report and other 

auditor powers

We had no reason to use our auditor powers.

Page 16



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Executive Summary: Key conclusions from our 2020/21 audit

Cambridge City Council 4

As a result of the work we carried out we have also:

Outcomes Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with 

governance of the Council

communicating significant findings 

resulting from our audit.

We issued our Audit Results Report on the 13 September to the 

Civic Affairs Committee. 

Issued a certificate that we have 

completed the audit in accordance 

with the requirements of the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and 

the National Audit Office’s 2020 Code 

of Audit Practice.

We have not yet issued our certificate for 2020/21 as we have not 

yet performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office 

on the Whole of Government Accounts submission. The guidance 

for 2020/21 is delayed and has not yet been issued

Fees

We carried out our audit of the Council’s financial statements in line with the “Terms of Appointment and 

further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA. As outlined in the Audit Results Report we 

were required to carry out additional audit procedures to address audit risks in relation to accounting for 

Covid-19 related Government Grant income, Going Concern, the valuation of Investment Properties and 

the new NAO Code for VFM. As a result, we will agree an associated additional fee with the Head of 

Finance. We include details of the audit fees in Appendix 1. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council staff for their assistance during the course of our 

work. 

Mark Hodgson

Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Page 17



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Section 2

Purpose and 
responsibilities

Page 18



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Purpose and responsibilities

Cambridge City Council 6

Purpose

The purpose of the Auditor’s Annual Report is to bring together all of the auditor’s 

work over the year. A core element of the report is the commentary on VFM 

arrangements, which aims to draw to the attention of the Council or the wider 

public relevant issues, recommendations arising from the audit and follow-up of 

recommendations issued previously, along with the auditor’s view as to whether 

they have been implemented satisfactorily.

Responsibilities of the appointed auditor

We have undertaken our 2020/21 audit work in accordance with the Audit Plan 

that we issued on 3 May 2021. We have complied with the NAO's 2020 Code of 

Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK), and other guidance 

issued by the NAO. 

As auditors we are responsible for:

Expressing an opinion on:

• The 2020/21 financial statements; 

• Conclusions relating to going concern; and

• The consistency of other information published with the financial statements, 

including the annual report.

Reporting by exception:

• If the governance statement does not comply with relevant guidance or is not 

consistent with our understanding of the Council;

• If we identify a significant weakness in the Council’s arrangements in place to 

secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; and

• Any significant matters that are in the public interest.

Responsibilities of the Council

The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its financial statements, 

annual report and governance statement. It is also responsible for putting in 

place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources.

This report summarises 

our audit work on the 

2020/21 financial 

statements.

Page 19



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Section 3

Financial Statement 
Audit

Page 20



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 8

Financial Statement Audit

Key issues

The Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council’s to show how 

it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its financial 

management and financial health. 

On 30 September 2021, we issued an unqualified opinion on the financial 

statements. We reported our detailed findings to the Civic Affairs Committee 

on the 22 September 2021. We outline below the key issues identified as part 

of our audit, reported against the significant risks and other areas of audit 

focus we included in our Audit Plan.

Financial Statement Audit

We have issued an 

unqualified audit opinion 

on the Council’s 2020/21 

financial statements.

Significant risk Conclusion

Misstatements due to fraud or error 

- management override of controls

An ever present risk that management 

is in a unique position to commit fraud 

because of its ability to manipulate 

accounting records directly or 

indirectly, and prepare fraudulent 

financial statements by overriding 

controls that otherwise appear to be 

operating effectively. 

We have not identified any material weakness in controls or 

evidence of material management override.

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements 

being applied, or of any management bias in accounting estimates.

We have not identified any inappropriate journal entries or other 

adjustments to the financial statements. 

Inappropriate capitalisation of 

expenditure including Revenue 

Expenditure Funded from Capital 

Under Statute 

(REFCUS)

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed 

risk that revenue may be misstated 

due to improper revenue recognition. 

In the public sector, this requirement is 

modified by Practice Note 10 issued 

by the Financial Reporting Council, 

which states that auditors should also 

consider the risk that material 

misstatements may occur by the 

manipulation of expenditure 

recognition. We have identified an 

opportunity and incentive to capitalise 

expenditure under the accounting 

framework, to remove it from the 

General Fund. 

Our sample testing of additions to Property, Plant and Equipment 

found that they had been correctly classified as capital and included 

at the correct value.

Our sample testing did not identify any revenue items that were 

incorrectly classified.

Our data analytics procedures did not identify any journal entries 

that incorrectly moved expenditure into capital codes.

Continued over.

Page 21



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 9

Financial Statement Audit

Significant Risk Conclusion

Inappropriate claims under the Local 

Government income compensation 

scheme

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, 

MHCLG introduced the local government 

income compensation scheme for lost 

sales, fees and charges as a result of 

COVID-19. We have identified an 

opportunity and incentive to overstate 

claims through this grant, to increase 

income received against any ongoing 

losses.

Our review of claims through the Local Government income 

compensation scheme did not identify any inappropriate claims 

under the scheme. 

Accounting for Covid-19 related grant 

funding

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, 

the Council have received significant 

levels of grant funding, both to support 

the Council and to pass on to local 

businesses. Each of these grants will 

have distinct restrictions and conditions 

that will impact the accounting treatment 

of these. 

Given the volume of these grants, and 

the new conditions for the Council to 

understand the accounting impact of, 

there is a significant risk that these may 

be misclassified in the financial 

statements or inappropriately treated 

from an accounting perspective. 

Our sample testing of Covid-19 related grant funding did not 

identify any grants that were incorrectly classified as specific or 

non-specific in nature, or any grants where the incorrect 

accounting treatment was applied. 

Valuation of Investment Properties

The Council’s investment property 

portfolio is a material balance disclosed 

on the balance sheet. In addition, the 

Council holds other assets valued using 

market information. In light of the 

ongoing pandemic, individual asset 

markets may react differently and 

considerations must be given to ensure 

sufficient and appropriate market data is 

used for valuations during the 2020-21 

period.

Our work and the work of our specialists concluded that 

Investment Property valuations were materially correct. 

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Continued over.

Page 22



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 10

Financial Statement Audit

Other area of audit focus Conclusion

National Non-Domestic Rates Appeals 

Provision

The calculation of the NNDR Appeals 

Provision is estimate based. Statistics 

compiled by the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government, 

reveal that councils were forecasting net 

additions to appeal provisions totalling 

£927 million this financial year, and £1.2 

billion next year. The reason behind the 

forecast increase is that, due to the 

impact of Covid-19, businesses are likely 

to seek reductions based on a decrease 

in rental prices on which rateable values 

are based.

Our work did not identify any issues with the assumptions used by 

Council’s specialist in the calculation of the NNDR appeals 

provision. 

Where the Council had made local adjustments to reflect on local 

knowledge and developing appeals, these were also found to be 

reasonable.

Recoverability of Debtors

As a result of the impact of Covid-19, 

there may be increased uncertainty 

around the recoverability of receivables. 

The provision for these bad debts is an 

estimate, and calculation requires 

management judgement. We would 

expect the Council to revisit their 

provision for bad debt calculation in light 

of Covid-19 and assess the 

appropriateness of this estimation 

technique. Given that there might be 

some subjectivity to the recoverability of 

debtors the Council will need to consider 

the level of any provision for bad debts. 

We have therefore raised as an inherent 

risk in our audit strategy.

Our work did not identify any issues with the reasonableness, 

accuracy or sufficiency of the provision for the recoverability of 

receivables made. 

Our sample testing of trade receivables also did not identify any 

issues around the recoverability of Debtors held on the Balance 

Sheet at year end. 

In addition to the significant risks identified, we also concluded on the following areas of audit focus or 

inherent risk.

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Continued over.

Page 23



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 11

Financial Statement Audit

Other area of audit focus Conclusion

Pension Valuations and Disclosures

The Authority makes extensive 

disclosures within its financial 

statements regarding its membership of 

Pension Scheme administered by 

Cambridgeshire County Council. The 

information disclosed is based on the 

IAS 19 report issued to the Authority by 

the actuary to the County Council.

Accounting for this scheme involves 

significant estimation and judgement and 

therefore management engages an 

actuary to undertake the calculations on 

their behalf. We undertake procedures 

on the use of management experts and 

the assumptions underlying fair value 

estimates. For 2020/21, there may be an 

impact of Covid-19 on pension asset 

values as at 31 March 2021.

The Cambridgeshire Pension Fund auditor highlighted a material 

movement in the valuation of Investment Assets of the Pension 

Fund, in their assurance letter to us.

As a result, the Council received an updated actuarial (IAS19) 

report from the Actuary, which determined that the liability in the 

draft accounts was overstated by £3.464 million.  

The audited statements were updated for the revised figures. 

Valuation of Other Land & Buildings

Other land and buildings (OLB) 

represents a significant balance in the 

Council’s accounts and is subject to 

valuation changes, impairment reviews 

and depreciation charges. 

Management is required to make 

material judgemental inputs and apply 

estimation techniques to calculate the 

year-end balances recorded in the 

balance sheet.

Our work did not identify any issues with the valuation of Other 

Land & Buildings. 

Council House Valuations

Council dwellings represent a significant 

balance in the Council’s accounts and 

are subject to valuation changes, 

impairment reviews and depreciation 

charges. As the value of council houses 

are significant, and the outputs from the 

its valuer are subject to estimation, there 

is a higher inherent risk balances may 

be under/overstated or the associated 

accounting entries incorrectly posted.

Our work did not identify any issues with the valuation of Council 

Dwellings.

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Continued over.

Page 24



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 12

Financial Statement Audit

Other area of audit focus Conclusion

Group Accounting

The Council undertakes its annual 

assessment of the group boundary to 

determine the procedures it needs to 

undertake to consolidate the relevant 

component entities. Given complexity of 

the group structure, an inherent risk has 

been raised. 

Our work did not identify any issues with the consolidation for the 

Council’s Group Accounts. 

Accounting for Collection Fund 

disclosures

During 2020/21, in response to the 

financial hardship faced by individuals 

and businesses, there may be lower 

levels of recovery of collection fund 

income. There are also specific sectors 

including retail, hospitality and leisure 

that have received additional business 

rates relief for the financial year. There is 

therefore an inherent risk of incorrect 

accounting based on the significant level 

of change in the year.

Our work did not identify any issues with the accounting for 

Collection Fund disclosures.

Going concern disclosures

The Council is required to carry out an 

assessment of its ability to continue as a 

going concern for the foreseeable future, 

being at least 12 months after the date of 

the approval of the financial statements. 

There is a risk that the Council’s financial 

statements do not adequately disclose 

the assessment made, the assumptions 

used and the relevant risks and 

challenges that have impacted the going 

concern period

We did not identify any events or conditions in the course of our 

audit that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to 

continue as going concern.

Management have used the basis of their assessment to produce 

the disclosures included within the draft financial statements.

We are satisfied that the revised disclosure note appropriately sets 

out the circumstances surrounding the financial implications 

prevalent at the date of authorisation of the financial statements.

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Continued over.

Page 25



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 13

Financial Statement Audit

Other area of audit focus Conclusion

Auditing Accounting Estimates

ISA 540 (Revised) - Auditing Accounting 

Estimates and Related Disclosures 

applies to audits of all accounting 

estimates in financial statements for 

periods beginning on or after December 

15, 2019. This revised ISA responds to 

changes in financial reporting standards 

and a more complex business 

environment which together have 

increased the importance of accounting 

estimates to the users of financial 

statements and introduced new 

challenges for preparers and auditors. 

The revised ISA requires auditors to 

consider inherent risks associated with 

the production of accounting estimates. 

We did not identify any issues in respect of estimates included 

within the financial statements. 

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Page 26



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 14

Financial Statement Audit

Financial Statement Audit (continued)

Audit differences

Management corrected, within the authorised financial statements, audit differences in relation to:

► the incorrect grossing up of Income & Expenditure for recharges within the Council - £6.451 million. There 

was no net impact on the surplus/deficit on the provision of services. 

► the incorrect netting down of Income & Expenditure for activity in relation to shared waste services - £0.519 

million. There was no net impact on the surplus/deficit on the provision of services. 

► Updated market information in respect of Cambridgeshire Pension Fund assets, through receipt of a 

revised actuarial report. This has reduced the Council’s share of the Pension Fund Liability by £3.464 

million. 

We identified a small number of misstatements in disclosures which management corrected. 

There were no misstatements identified for which management did not adjust the accounts.

Our application of materiality

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that 

we judged would be material for the financial statements as a whole.

Item Thresholds applied

Planning 

materiality

We determined planning materiality to be £2.820 million as 2% of gross revenue 

expenditure reported in the accounts. We consider gross revenue expenditure to be one 

of the principal considerations for stakeholders in assessing the financial performance of 

the Council

Reporting 

threshold

We agreed with the Civic Affairs Committee that we would report all audit differences in 

excess of £0.141 million.

We also identified the following areas where misstatement at a level lower than our overall materiality level 

might influence the reader. For these areas we developed an audit strategy specific to these areas. The areas 

identified and audit strategy applied include:

► Remuneration disclosures: We audited all disclosures and undertook procedures to confirm material 

completeness.

► Related party transactions. We audited all disclosures and undertook procedures to confirm material 

completeness.

Page 27



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Section 4

Value for Money

Page 28



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 16

Value for Money (VFM)

Scope and risks

We have complied with the NAO’s 2020 Code and the NAO’s Auditor Guidance 

Note in respect of VFM. We presented our VFM risk assessment to the Civic 

Affairs Committee on the 14 July 2021 which was based on a combination of our 

cumulative audit knowledge and experience, our review of Council and 

committee reports, meetings with the Head of Finance and her team and 

evaluation of associated documentation through our regular engagement with

management and the finance team. We reported that we had not identified any 

risks of significant weaknesses in the Council’s VFM arrangements for 2020/21. 

Reporting

We completed our planned VFM arrangements work in September 2021 and did 

not identify any significant weaknesses in the Council’s VFM arrangements. As a 

result, we had no matters to report by exception in the audit report on the 

financial statements. 

VFM Commentary

In accordance with the NAO’s 2020 Code, we are required to report a 

commentary against three specified reporting criteria:

• Financial sustainability

How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 

deliver its services;

• Governance

How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness:

How the Council uses information about its costs and performance to improve 

the way it manages and delivers its services.

We did not identify any 

risks of significant 

weaknesses in the 

Council’s VFM 

arrangements for 

2020/21.

We had no matters to 

report by exception in 

the audit report.

Our VFM commentary 

highlights relevant 

issues for the Council 

and the wider public.

Page 29



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Cambridge City Council

17

VFM Commentary

Introduction and context

The 2020 Code confirms that the focus of our work should be on the arrangements that 

the audited body is expected to have in place, based on the relevant governance 

framework for the type of public sector body being audited, together with any other 

relevant guidance or requirements. Audited bodies are required to maintain a system of 

internal control that secures value for money from the funds available to them whilst 

supporting the achievement of their policies, aims and objectives. They are required to 

comment on the operation of their governance framework during the reporting period, 

including arrangements for securing value for money from their use of resources, in a 

governance statement.

We have previously reported the VFM work we have undertaken during the year 

including our risk assessment. The commentary below aims to provide a clear narrative 

that explains our judgements in relation to our findings and any associated local context.

For 2020/21, the significant impact that the Covid-19 pandemic has had on the Council 

has shaped decisions made, how services have been delivered and financial plans have 

necessarily had to be reconsidered and revised. 

We have reflected these national and local contexts in our VFM commentary.

Financial sustainability

1. How the body ensures that it identifies all the significant financial pressures that 

are relevant to its short and medium-term plans and builds these into them

The Council produce the Budget Setting Report in February prior to the start of the 

financial year. The Medium Term Financial is then updated during the year. Senior 

Leadership and the Executive are involved throughout the Budget setting process, 

ensuring that priorities are considered and relevant financial pressures taken into 

account. The Medium Term Financial Strategy and Budget are taken to Strategy and 

Resources Scrutiny Committee before approval at Full Council.

2. How the body plans to bridge its funding gaps and identifies achievable savings

The five-year funding gap is re-assessed each year through the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy, subject to uncertainties such as the Local Government finance settlement, with 

sensitivity analysis performed as part of this process. In previous years the Council has 

undertaken a series of service reviews to achieve the required level of savings and 

provide the necessary headroom to fund it’s priorities. Due to the potential for further 

significant savings to be required in response to the as yet unknown timing and impacts 

of the Fair Funding Review and the Review of Business Rates, the Council has 

embarked on a Transformation and Recovery Programme aimed at re-designing 

services, whilst also acknowledging the impacts of Covid-19 on service user 

requirements. 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy considers a worst case scenario for savings 

requirements. Based on the latest updates to the Medium Term Financial Strategy in 

October 2020, the Council was looking to utilise £2.1 million of reserves in 2020/21 to 

achieve a balanced budget. The final outturn position was the utilisation of £0.7 million of 

the General Fund reserves.

The Council has 

had the 

arrangements we 

would expect to 

see to enable it 

to plan and 

manage its 

resources to 

ensure that it can 

continue to 

deliver its 

services.

Page 30



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 18

VFM Commentary

Financial sustainability (continued)

3. How the body plans finances to support the sustainable delivery of 

services in accordance with strategic and statutory priorities

The budget setting process allows for the consideration of budget changes 

service by service, based on how the changes support the Council's priorities 

and impact service delivery. Each budget proposal is supported by narrative 

which explains the context of the proposal and its impact. Capital proposals are 

supported by a summary business case. The Council have identified additional 

pressures in 2020/21 in respect of Covid-19, which amounted to £10 million in 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy. Whilst additional spending and further lost 

income has been incurred since, amounting to £20.1 million, this has been 

partially offset by £11.6 million of additional government grant funding, leaving a 

residual gap of £8.5 million. The Council have taken mitigating actions to reduce 

the pressure, including the delay of capital projects. The Council are conscious 

that there will be an element of unavoidable spending and build headroom in the 

savings requirements to take account of this fact.

4. How the body ensures that its financial plan is consistent with other 

plans such as workforce, capital, investment, and other operational 

planning which may include working with other local public bodies as part 

of a wider system

The Council have a number of joint arrangements in place with other local 

councils to achieve effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery. Finances are 

planned through the Medium Term Financial Strategy and budget setting 

processes. The Council's Corporate Plan is presented and approved alongside 

the budget, the Treasury Management Strategy and the Capital Strategy in 

February each year.  This sets out the wider objectives of the Council in respect 

of service delivery.

5. How the body identifies and manages risks to financial resilience, e.g. 

unplanned changes in demand, including challenge of the assumptions 

underlying its plans.

Budget holders and Heads of Service are responsible for delivering services 

within allocated budgets, and Heads of Service review financial and performance 

monitoring reports. Throughout the year, the Senior Leadership Team receive 

financial reports which identify and explain significant forecast outturn variances 

and summarise the impact on the overall financial position. Where concerns are 

identified these are actioned to ensure that the final outturn is consistent with the 

financial sustainability plans set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan (October 

2020). The Medium Term Financial Plan sets out risks and uncertainties that 

could impact the Council's financial position.

The Council has had the 

arrangements we would 

expect to see to enable 

it to plan and manage its 

resources to ensure that 

it can continue to deliver 

its services.

Page 31



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 19

VFM Commentary

Governance

1. How the body monitors and assesses risk and how the body gains 

assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including 

arrangements to prevent and detect fraud

The Council maintains risk registers covering corporate, service, shared service 

and project risks. These are reviewed by Senior Management, the Shared 

Services Board and programme and project boards as appropriate. Internal Audit 

undertakes a programme of annual risk-based reviews and provides assurance 

to the Civic Affairs Committee. The Civic Affairs Committee also receives an 

Annual Report on the anti-fraud work of Internal Audit and the fraud team within 

the Revenues and Benefits Service.

2. How the body approaches and carries out its annual budget setting 

process

The Council produce the Budget Setting Report in February prior to the start of 

the financial year. The Medium Term Financial Strategy is then updated during 

the year. Senior Leadership and the Executive are involved throughout the 

Budget setting process, ensuring that priorities are considered and relevant 

financial pressures taken into account. The Medium Term Financial Strategy and 

Budget are taken to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee before 

approval at Full Council. 

3. How the body ensures effective processes and systems are in place to 

ensure budgetary control; to communicate relevant, accurate and timely 

management information (including non-financial information where 

appropriate); supports its statutory financial reporting requirements; and 

ensures corrective action is taken where needed.

The Council operates a modern, cloud-based financial management system. 

This enables budget holders to review their budgets on screen and regularly 

update their forecast spend. Budget holders are supported and challenged in this 

by Service Accountants. Internal Audit review aspects of the system of financial 

control on a rolling basis and report their findings to the Civic Affairs Committee 

as part of their annual Internal Audit reporting programme.

4. How the body ensures it makes properly informed decisions, supported 

by appropriate evidence and allowing for challenge and transparency.  This 

includes arrangements for effective challenge from those charged with 

governance/audit committee.

Decision making processes and delegations are set out within the Council’s 

Constitution and Financial Regulations for all Committees, together with the 

decision making processes that are delegated to Council Officers. Where formal 

decisions are required they are pre-scrutinised by the appropriate Scrutiny 

Committee in advance of presentation to Full Council. This ensures that the 

necessary information is provided and that recommendations can be challenged 

before decisions are made.

The Council has had the 

arrangements we would 

expect to see to enable 

to make informed 

decisions and properly 

manage its risks.

Page 32



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 20

VFM Commentary

Governance (continued)

5. How the body monitors and ensures appropriate standards, such as 

meeting legislative/regulatory requirements and standards in terms of 

officer or member behaviour (such as gifts and hospitality or 

declarations/conflicts of interests).

The Council maintains appropriate Registers of Gifts and Hospitality, and 

guidance is provided on the Council's intranet. Any matters, for example from 

whistle-blowing processes or complaints, are investigated in accordance with 

agreed processes and/or referred to Internal Audit or the Monitoring Officer, as 

appropriate. Councillors are required to complete and update the Council’s 

Registers of Interest which are available on the Council's public website. 

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

1. How financial and performance information has been used to assess 

performance to identify areas for improvement.

Regular reporting of performance and financial information is undertaken. As part 

of this, the Council consider the delivery of services and the Council priorities 

and previous performance. The Council, Executive & Scrutiny Committees 

receive a variety of performance and financial based reports throughout the year 

to continuously monitor performance. The Annual Report and Annual 

Governance Statement set out the review of performance for the year. 

2. How the body evaluates the services it provides to assess performance 

and identify areas for improvement

The Corporate Plan sets out key performance indicators for the Council's 

objectives, and provision of services are assessed against these objectives. The 

nature of monitoring therefore is dependent on the nature of the service provided 

and the key performance indicators monitored. The Narrative Report sets out a 

review of achievements against the Corporate Plan.

3. How the body ensures it delivers its role within significant partnerships, 

engages with stakeholders it has identified, monitors performance against 

expectations, and ensures action is taken where necessary to improve

The Council ensures that it is represented on partnership bodies by relevant 

senior managers or members, as required. Regular reports are brought to the 

relevant Scrutiny Committee for review, for example on shared services and 

work with the Combined Authority. Other key partnerships include the Greater 

Cambridge Partnership, where the Council have a nominated member who sits 

on the Executive Board for key decision making at the partnership.

The Council has had the 

arrangements we would 

expect to see to enable 

it to use information 

about its costs and 

performance to improve 

the way it manages and 

delivers services.

Page 33



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 21

VFM Commentary

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

4. How the body ensures that commissioning and procuring services is 

done in accordance with relevant legislation, professional standards and 

internal policies, and how the body assesses whether it is realising the 

expected benefits.

The Council has a procurement team which provides advice and support to 

officers undertaking procurement activities. The team also maintain procurement 

guidance and templates, the contract register and a separate procurement 

system. Internal Audit also review procurement as part of their Internal Audit 

programme of work. In accordance with the Constitution, significant 

procurements must be approved by the Executive Councillor following scrutiny at 

the relevant committee. The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for 

ensuring the Council complies with relevant laws and regulations.

The Council has had the 

arrangements we would 

expect to see to enable 

it to use information 

about its costs and 

performance to improve 

the way it manages and 

delivers services.

Page 34



Ref: EY-000092651-01
Cambridge City Council 22

VFM Commentary

Recommendations

As a result of the VFM procedures we have not made any recommendations.

Forward look

Looking forward to 2021 and beyond, the Council continues to face significant 

financial pressures over the medium term, which we would expect to see 

continually updated and reflected within the Medium Term Financial Plan.

The Council faces 

further challenge and 

change beyond 2021 

which will form part of 

our 2021/22 VFM 

arrangements work.

Recommendations

Page 35



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Section 5

Other Reporting 
Issues

Page 36



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Governance Statement

We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s Annual Governance 

Statement, identify any inconsistencies with the other information of which we are aware from our work, and 

consider whether it complies with relevant guidance. 

We completed this work and identified that the conclusion of the Annual Governance Statement required 

additional narrative to specifically set out whether any significant governance issues had been identified.The 

Council amended the Annual Governance Statement to include this.

Whole of Government Accounts

We have not yet performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) on the Whole of 

Government Accounts consolidation pack submission. The guidance for 20/21 is yet to be issued. We will 

liaise with the Council to complete this work as required. 

Report in the Public Interest 

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, 

to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit in order for it to be considered 

by the Council or brought to the attention of the public.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Other powers and duties

We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014.

Other Reporting Issues

Cambridge City Council 24

Control Themes and Observations

As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and 

determine the nature, timing and extent of testing performed. Although our audit was not designed to 

express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to communicate to you significant 

deficiencies in internal control identified during our audit.

We have adopted a fully substantive approach and have therefore not tested the operation of controls.

Our audit did not identify any controls issues to bring to the attention of the Civic Affairs Committee.

Page 37



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Appendix A

Audit Fees

Page 38



Ref: EY-000092651-01

Our fee for 2020/21 is in line with the audit fee reported in our Audit Results Report presented to the Civic 

Affairs Committee on 22 September 2021. 

Audit Fees

Cambridge City Council 26

Description

Final Fee 

2020/21

£’s

Scale Fee 

2020/21 

£’s

Final Fee 

2019/20

£’s

Initial Scale Fee – Code work 40,024 40,024 40,024

Fee Variation TBC

(Note 2)

- 36,851

(Note 1)

Revised Scale Fee TBC 40,024 76,875

Agreed Upon Procedures - Housing Benefit Subsidy 

(Certification Assurance Work)

TBC - 13,800

Note 1 – PSAA Ltd determined the Fee Variation on 22 October 2021. 

Note 2 – For 2020/21, we have re-assessed the scale fee again to take into account the same recurring risk 

factors as in 2019/20, which includes procedures performed to address the risk profile of the Council and 

additional work to address increase in Regulatory standards and the financial reporting impact of Covid-19, 

as we set out in our Audit Results Report. The additional fee for 2020/21 is yet to be fully discussed with 

management and thus remains subject to determination by PSAA Ltd.

We confirm we have not undertaken any non-audit work.

Page 39



Ref: EY-000092651-01

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.

All Rights Reserved.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership 

registered in England and Wales

with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & 

Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

Page 40



 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021-22 –  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT  

AREAS OF JUDGEMENT 

To:  
Civic Affairs Committee     02/02/2022 

Report by:  

Jody Etherington, Deputy Head of Finance  

Tel: 01223 - 458130  Email: jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council is required to produce a Statement of Accounts on an 

annual basis in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’). This report sets out the 
significant areas of accounting judgement and sources of estimation 
uncertainty which are likely to arise in relation to the 2021-22 accounts. 

 
1.2 There are no significant changes to accounting policy proposed this 

year, although presentational changes are likely as set out in section 6. 
Furthermore, section 7 briefly sets out accounting policy changes which 
will come into effect in future years. 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 To note that there are no significant changes to accounting policy 

anticipated for the 2021-22 Statement of Accounts. 
 
2.2 To note and approve the proposed critical judgements and major 

sources of estimation uncertainty in respect of the 2021-22 Statement 
of Accounts. 

 
2.3 To note and approve proposals to improve the presentation of the 

Statement of Accounts, in line with latest CIPFA guidance. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



2.4 To note the request for informal feedback from Civic Affairs Committee 
members on the current format of the Statement of Accounts, and 
suggestions for improvement. 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Code is updated on an annual basis to reflect changes to 

accounting standards and practice. Having reviewed the 2021-22 Code, 
there are no changes which will have a significant impact on the 
Council’s accounting policies or Statement of Accounts. 

 
3.2 This year, the government have proposed (subject to ongoing 

consultation) a deadline for the production of the draft Statement of 
Accounts of 31 May 2022, with audited accounts to be published by 30 
November 2022. The audit deadline represents a 2-month extension in 
recognition of current sector-wide challenges to audit timetables. 
However, the accounts preparation deadline of 31 May will require the 
Council to produce a draft Statement of Accounts earlier than it ever 
has before. This is a significant challenge for the Finance team, but one 
which should be achievable through careful planning, early engagement 
with the auditors, and streamlining of the process and Statement of 
Accounts document itself (see section 6). 

 
3.3 As part of this planning process, this report aims to give the Civic Affairs 

Committee early sight of the critical judgements and major sources of 
estimation uncertainty likely to feature in the 2021-22 Statement of 
Accounts. It is likely that many of these areas will also be areas of focus 
for the external auditors when they present their Audit Plan to the 
Committee. 

 
3.4 A further briefing on the Statement of Accounts will be arranged for 

members of the Civic Affairs Committee at the time of the draft 
accounts being published. 

4. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
4.1 In applying its accounting policies, the Council is required to make 

certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events. Where such judgements are significant, 
they must be disclosed within the accounts. Only one such judgement 
has been identified to date in relation to 2021-22 (as consistent with the 
prior year), and this is set out below.  

 

Page 42



Funding Uncertainty 
 
4.2 The current local government finance settlement was for one year only 

(2022-23), and therefore there remains a degree of uncertainty about 
future funding levels. However, the Council has determined that this 
uncertainty is not sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of 
the Council might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
and significantly reduce levels of service provision. 

5. Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
5.1 The preparation of the Statement of Accounts requires a range of 

judgements, estimates and assumptions to be made which affect the 
figures within the accounts. Where there is a significant risk that such 
estimates may change materially in the following year, these must be 
disclosed within the accounts, along with the key methodology and 
assumptions adopted, and the sensitivity of the estimates to changes in 
these. 

 
5.2 The following areas of significant estimation uncertainty have been 

identified for disclosure in the 2021-22 accounts to date: 
 
Pensions Liability 
 
5.3 Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of 

complex judgements relation to the discount rate used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, 
mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of 
consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Council with expert 
advice about the assumptions to be applied. The net pension liability as 
at 31 March 2021 was £142.2 million, subject to the following 
sensitivities to underlying assumptions: 

 

 Decreasing the real discount rate by 0.1% would have increased the 
liability by £7.9 million. 

 An increase in member life expectancy of 1 year would have 
increased the liability by £16.5 million. 

 Increasing the CPI assumption by 0.1% would have increased the 
liability by £7.2 million. 

 
5.4 The underlying assumptions and therefore the value of the liability will 

be reassessed by the actuaries as at 31 March 2022. Whilst changes to 
the assumptions do not immediately impact usable reserves, any 

Page 43



longer-term increase in the liability would likely lead to an increase in 
the level of employer contributions to be charged to the General Fund 
and HRA in future years. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
5.5 Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent upon 

assumptions about the level of repairs and maintenance that will be 
incurred in relation to individual assets. If the Council did not sustain its 
current spending on repairs and maintenance the useful lives currently 
assigned to assets may be reduced. 

 
5.6 If the useful life of assets is reduced, depreciation increases and the 

carrying value of the assets fall. The total charge for depreciation in 
2021-22 is currently forecast at £16.5 million, and it is estimated that a 
reduction in useful lives of 1 year would increase this charge by £1.5 
million. Of this, £0.3 million would fall as a charge to the HRA, with the 
remaining £1.2 million impact on General Fund assets being reversed 
out to unusable reserves under statutory requirements for capital 
financing. 

 
5.7 In addition, the Council is required to value its operational properties 

(land and buildings) at ‘current value’. For non-specialised assets such 
as office buildings, this is taken to be the value of the property in its 
existing use (e.g. disregarding any redevelopment potential). For 
specialised assets such as swimming pools, a depreciated replacement 
cost approach is used. Council dwellings are valued based upon an 
existing use value for social housing, which applies a discount factor to 
reflect the fact that they are let at lower than market rents. 

 
5.8 Any valuation requires certain assumptions and estimates to be made, 

and therefore there is an inherent risk that valuations may change 
materially in subsequent years. This risk is mitigated through the use of 
independent external property valuers, who are engaged to value 
properties in accordance with the requirements of the Code, and the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Global 
Standards. 

 
5.9 The frequency of valuations depends upon the type of value of each 

property, as follows:- 
 
 
  

Page 44



Property 
type 

Total value (land and 
buildings) 

Valuation frequency 

Operational – 
non-specialist 

£3 million or greater Annually 

Less than £3 million 5-yearly 

Operational - 
specialist 

£1 million or greater 5-yearly, with indexation 
in the intervening years 

Less than £1 million 5-yearly 

Council 
dwellings 

All 5-yearly, on a beacon 
basis 

Surplus 
assets 

All Annually 

Assets held 
for sale 

All Annually 

 
5.10 In addition to the above programme of planned valuations, the external 

valuers also carry out an annual ‘materiality review’ to identify any risks 
of material movements in the value of properties not scheduled for 
review in any given year. Where any such risks are identified, an 
additional valuation is conducted.  

 
5.11 Council dwellings are valued using a beacon approach, whereby 

properties are grouped into similar ‘archetypes’ based upon type, size, 
age and location. Within each archetype a representative property is 
chosen for valuation, and the value derived is then applied to the whole 
archetype. 

 
5.12 Following a competitive tender process, the Council has appointed new 

external valuers for its non-dwelling properties for the 2021-22 accounts 
(Bruton Knowles). This may result in some changes to the 
methodologies and assumptions used, and the associated disclosures 
within the Statement of Accounts. However, since all valuers have to 
apply the same professional standards to their valuations, the impact of 
this change is not anticipated to be significant. There is no change to 
the arrangements for the valuation of council dwellings, which is 
undertaken by Wilks Head and Eve. 

 
5.13 The total value of council dwellings as at 31 March 2021 was £639.8 

million, and the total value of other operational properties was £145.9 
million. 

 
 
 
 

Page 45



Business Rate Appeals 
 
5.14 Since the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme from 1 

April 2013, local authorities are liable for successful appeals against 
business rates charged to businesses, both in the current financial year 
and earlier years, in proportion to their local share of business rates 
income. The Council’s General Fund share of business rates income is 
40%. 

 
5.15 A provision is therefore recognised for the best estimate of the amount 

that will be repayable following successful rating valuation appeals. The 
provision is calculated using an estimate of the likely remaining average 
reduction in rateable values over the life of the 2017 Valuation Office 
Agency (VOA) ratings list, plus an estimate of the amounts which will be 
required to settle appeals still outstanding on the 2010 ratings list. The 
estimates are based upon historical experience, and the Council has 
employed relevant experts to assist with this process. However, it 
remains possible that appeals may be settled at amounts which differ 
from these estimates. 

 
5.16 The Council’s share of the provision is currently forecast to be £3.4 

million as at 31 March 2022, although this will be reassessed at year-
end. 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
5.17 The Code requires many of the Council’s assets to be held on the 

balance sheet at fair value, which is the price that an independent 
market participant would pay for the asset as at the balance sheet date. 

 
5.18 Where possible, fair value is measured based upon quoted prices for 

identical assets in an active market (known as level 1 inputs). However, 
where such prices are not available, other valuation techniques must be 
used. These can be based upon observable (level 2) or unobservable 
(level 3) inputs. 

 
5.19 Wherever level 1 inputs are not available for material assets or 

liabilities, the Council employs relevant experts to identify the most 
appropriate valuation techniques and to undertake valuations as 
required. 

 
5.20 The most significant assets held by the Council and valued using level 

2 or level 3 inputs are as follows:- 

Page 46



Asset Value 
(31 
March 
2021) 

Valuation Approach 

Investment 
properties 
(including 
investment 
properties held 
for sale) 

£162.1m Valuation undertaken by external property valuers 
using a range of observable and unobservable 
inputs (level 3), such as expected yields, market 
rents and land values. Approaches adopted 
include the investment method (capitalising rental 
values using expected yields) and the comparable 
method (using recent market transactions of similar 
properties with appropriate adjustments). 

Contingent 
proceeds from 
disposal of 
assets 

£2.7m Present value of likely estimated sales proceeds 
discounted at an appropriate rate where material. 

Council’s share 
of pension fund 
assets 

£271.1m With the exception of cash and cash equivalents, 
valuation is based upon quoted prices not in active 
markets. 

 
5.21 As explained at paragraph 5.12, the Council’s portfolio of investment 

properties will be valued by Bruton Knowles for the first time in 2021-22. 
Investment properties with a value of £500,000 or greater are valued 
annually, whilst smaller properties are valued on a rolling 5-yearly 
basis. As with operational properties, an annual ‘materiality review’ is 
conducted by the valuers to identify any risks of material movement in 
the value of properties not subject to revaluation in any given year. 

6. Streamlining the Accounts 
 
6.1 In 2019, CIPFA published ‘Streamlining the Accounts’, a guide to help 

local authorities to produce accounts which are more focused and user-
friendly, whilst still complying with the requirements of the Code. Due to 
the delays in accounts production and audit in 2018-19 and 2019-20, 
the Council has not yet had an opportunity to implement any significant 
changes in response to this. 

 
6.2 We propose for 2021-22 to take some time to look at the format and 

content of the Statement of Accounts, and to identify opportunities to 
make it more concise and easier to read and understand. We will seek 
early engagement with the auditors on this point to minimise any audit 
risk arising. It is hoped that any changes can be brought forward in time 
for the publication of the draft Statement of Accounts by the end of May 
2022, and indeed streamlining is likely to be key to our ability to meet 
this much earlier deadline as set out in section 3 above. 

 

Page 47



6.3 Any feedback from members of the Civic Affairs Committee on the 
current Statement of Accounts format, or suggestions for improvement, 
would be greatly appreciated to feed into this process. 

7. Future Developments 
 
7.1 The following developments are likely to affect the Council’s Statement 

of Accounts in future years. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
7.2 With effect from 1 April 2022, there will be a change to the way in which 

the Council is required to account for leased assets, under a newly 
adopted International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS 16). The 
main impact will be on leases where the Council is the lessee. 

 
7.3 Currently, all leases where the Council is the lessee are classified as 

operating leases. The cost of the lease payments is charged to the 
General Fund or HRA evenly over the life of the lease, with no impact 
on the Council’s Balance Sheet. 

 
7.4 Under IFRS 16, the Council will be required to recognise a long term 

liability on the Balance Sheet in respect of future years’ lease 
payments. There will also be a corresponding asset in respect of the 
Council’s right to use the leased asset for the term of the lease. 
Preliminary estimates place the total value of this liability and 
corresponding asset in the region of £1 million, although work is 
ongoing to fully quantify this. 

 
7.5 As a result of this new standard, an authorised borrowing limit for long 

term liabilities of £2 million has been proposed in the 2022-23 Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement to be presented to Council in 
February. It is important to note, however, that this is purely a technical 
accounting change. There is no new liability being taken on by the 
Council in practice, this is effectively recognition of a liability now for 
lease payments the Council has already committed to pay in future 
years. 

 
7.6 The new standard will also result in a slightly different profile of charges 

to the General Fund and HRA, with higher payments due in the earlier 
years of the lease due to higher financing costs on the larger liability 
balance. However, the total amount chargeable over the life of the 
lease will remain the same. 

Page 48



MRP Consultation 
 
7.7 The government is currently consulting on changes to the Statutory 

Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Any changes to this 
guidance may require a review of the Council’s MRP policy, particularly 
in relation to capital loans on which MRP is not currently charged (on 
the basis that they are secured on assets). 

 
7.8 Under statutory requirements, loans to third parties for capital purposes 

must be treated by the Council as capital expenditure, and therefore 
must be financed in the same way as any other capital expenditure. 
Currently, secured loans are left unfinanced at the point that they are 
made, and instead are financed retrospectively from the cash received 
when the loan is repaid. Adopting this methodology means that there is 
no revenue impact of making these loans (other than the recognition of 
any interest received). 

 
7.9 Under the government proposals, certain unfinanced loans would 

become subject to an MRP charge to revenue on an annual basis. This 
would not impact the Council’s net cost of services, but would be a 
charge to the General Fund made through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement (MIRS). Whilst it would still be possible to finance any 
remaining balance from the cash repayment at the end of the loan, it 
would not be permitted to ‘unwind’ MRP charges made in previous 
years. This would effectively result in a permanent conversion of 
revenue resources to capital (a charge on the General Fund). 

 
7.10 Should this occur, it is possible that the long-term viability of some of 

these loan arrangements could be affected. However, it should be 
noted that these proposals are still subject to consultation, with any 
changes likely to take affect from 1 April 2023. 

8. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
As set out throughout this report. 

b) Staffing Implications 
None. 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
None. 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None. 

Page 49



e) Procurement Implications 
None. 

f) Community Safety Implications 
None. 

9. Consultation and communication considerations 
The draft Statement of Accounts will be published on the Council’s 
website by 31 May 2022, and will be subject to a public inspection 
period in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as 
amended). 

10. Background papers 
Statement of Accounts 2020-21 

11. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact Jody Etherington, Deputy Head of Finance, tel: 01223 - 458130, 
email: jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 50

mailto:jody.etherington@cambridge.gov.uk


 

APPOINTING PERSON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 

APPOINTMENT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

To:  
Civic Affairs Committee     [02/02/2022] 

Report by:  

Caroline Ryba, Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer  

Tel: 01223 - 458134  Email: Caroline.Ryba@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

1. Introduction / Executive Summary 
 
1.1. This report sets out the options available to the council regarding the 

adoption of an appointing person arrangement for the appointment of 
an external auditor to the council for the years 2023/24 to 2027/28. 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1. To recommend to Council the adoption of Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Ltd (PSAA) as the appointing person for the council.  
2.2. To delegate acceptance of the invitation to the Head of Finance, as the 

council’s Section 151 Officer. 

3. Background 
 
3.1. The council opted into the ‘appointing person’ national auditor 

appointment arrangements established by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) for the period covering the accounts for 2018/19 
to 2022/23. The current auditor appointment arrangements, therefore, 
cover the period up to and including the audit of the 2022/23 accounts. 
PSAA is now undertaking a procurement for the next appointing period, 
covering audits for 2023/24 to 2027/28. It issued an invitation to all 
councils to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments on 22 
September 2021, with responses required by 11 March 2022. Councils 
have options to arrange their own procurement and make the 
appointment themselves or in conjunction with other bodies, or they can 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



join and take advantage of the national collective scheme administered 
by PSAA. 

 

4. Option for the Appointing Person Arrangement 
 
4.1  The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 sets out how local auditors 

should be appointed. There are three ways for a principal local 
government body to appoint its auditor for the five financial years from 
2023/24, namely: 

 
• To undertake an individual auditor procurement and appointment 

exercise; 
•  To undertake a joint audit procurement and appointing exercise 

with other bodies, those in the same locality for example; or 
• To join PSAA’s sector led national scheme. As a specified person 

under the Act, the PSAA’s role is governed by the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. 

 
4.2. All of the above options require a local auditor to be appointed not later 

than 31 December in the financial year preceding the financial year of 
the accounts to be audited. So for the audit of the accounts of the 
2023/24 financial year, there must be a local auditor appointed by 31 
December 2022 

5. The Appointed Auditor 
 
5.1  The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will 

undertake the statutory audit of accounts and Best Value assessment 
of the council in each financial year, in accordance with all relevant 
codes of practice and guidance.  The appointed auditor is also 
responsible for investigating questions raised by electors and has 
powers and responsibilities in relation to Public Interest Reports and 
statutory recommendations.   

 
5.2. The auditor must act independently of the council and the main purpose 

of the procurement legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is 
sufficiently qualified and independent.  

 
5.3. The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the 

Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and employ authorised Key Audit 
Partners to oversee the work. As the report below sets out there is a 
currently a shortage of registered firms and Key Audit Partners.  

Page 52



5.4. Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will be replaced by a new 
body with wider powers, the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority 
(ARGA) during the course of the next audit contract.  

 
5.5. Councils therefore have very limited influence over the nature of the 

audit services they are procuring, the nature and quality of which are 
determined or overseen by third parties 

6. Appointment by the council or jointly 
 
6.1. The council may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, 

which would require the council to: 
 

 Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone 
appointment. The auditor panel would need to be set up by the 
council itself and the members of the panel must be wholly or a 
majority of independent members as defined by the Act. 
Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees, 
excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and their 
close families and friends. This means that elected members will not 
have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit 
firm to award a contract for the council’s external audit.  

 Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the auditor panel.   
 

6.2. Alternatively, the Act enables the council to join with other authorities to 
establish a joint auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of 
wholly or a majority of independent appointees. Further legal advice 
would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel having 
regard to the obligations of each council under the Act and the council 
would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite 
for such an arrangement. 

7. The national auditor appointment scheme 
 
7.1. PSAA is specified as the ‘appointing person’ for principal local 

government under the provisions of the Act and the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. PSAA let five-year audit 
services contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, covering audits 
of the accounts from 2018/19 to 2022/23. It is now undertaking the work 
needed to invite eligible bodies to opt in for the next appointing period, 
from the 2023/24 audit onwards, and to complete a procurement for 
audit services. PSAA is a not-for-profit organisation whose costs are 

Page 53



around 4% of the scheme with any surplus distributed back to scheme 
members.   

 
7.2. In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following: 
 

• the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits 
for each of the five financial years commencing 1 April 2023; 

 
• appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are 

involved in formal collaboration or joint working initiatives to the 
extent this is possible with other constraints; 

 
• managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price 

criteria are satisfied. PSAA has sought views from the sector to help 
inform its detailed procurement strategy; 

 
• ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they 

audit and managing any potential conflicts as they arise during the 
appointment period; 

 
• minimising the scheme management costs and returning any 

surpluses to scheme members; 
 
• consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the 

council the opportunity to influence which auditor is appointed; 
 
• consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring 

these reflect scale, complexity, and audit risk; and 
 
• ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts 

once these have been let. 

8. Pressures in the current local audit market and delays in 
issuing opinions 

 
8.1. Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were 

last awarded in 2017. At that time the audit market was relatively stable, 
there had been few changes in audit requirements, and local audit fees 
had been reducing over a long period. 98% of those bodies eligible 
opted into the national scheme and attracted very competitive bids from 
audit firms. The resulting audit contracts took effect from 1 April 2018. 

 

Page 54



8.2. During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector 
led to questioning about the role of auditors and the focus and value of 
their work. Four independent reviews were commissioned by 
Government: Sir John Kingman’s review of the Financial Reporting 
Council (FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and Markets 
Authority review of the audit market; Sir Donald Brydon’s review of the 
quality and effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond’s review of 
local authority financial reporting and external audit. The 
recommendations are now under consideration by Government, with 
the clear implication that significant reforms will follow. A new audit 
regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system 
leadership in local audit are to be introduced. Further change will follow 
as other recommendations are implemented. 

 
8.3. The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver 

rapid, measurable improvements in audit quality. This has created a 
major pressure for audit firms to ensure full compliance with regulatory 
requirements and expectations in every audit they undertake. By the 
time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, the 
measures they were putting in place to respond to a more focused 
regulator were clearly visible. To deliver the necessary improvements in 
audit quality, firms were requiring their audit teams to undertake 
additional work to gain deeper levels of assurance. However, additional 
work requires more time, posing a threat to the firms’ ability to complete 
all their audits by the target date for publication of audited accounts. 
Delayed opinions are not the only consequence of the FRC’s drive to 
improve audit quality. Additional audit work must also be paid for. As a 
result, many more fee variation claims have been needed than in prior 
years.  

 
8.4. This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and 

retention challenges, the complexity of local government financial 
statements and increasing levels of technical challenges as bodies 
explore innovative ways of developing new or enhanced income 
streams to help fund services for local people. These challenges have 
increased in subsequent audit years, with Covid-19 creating further 
significant pressure for finance and audit teams.  

 
8.5. None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar 

challenges have played out in other sectors, where increased fees and 
disappointing responses to tender invitations have been experienced 
during the past two years. 

Page 55



9. The invitation 
 
9.1.  PSAA is now inviting the council to opt in for the second appointing 

period, for 2023/24 to 2027/28, along with all other eligible authorities. 
Based on the level of opt-ins it will enter into contracts with 
appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the 
council’s auditor. 

10. The next audit procurement 
 
10.1. The prices submitted by bidders through the procurement will be the 

key determinant of the value of audit fees paid by opted-in bodies. 
PSAA will 

 

 seek to encourage realistic fee levels and to benefit from the 
economies of scale associated with procuring on behalf of a 
significant number of bodies; 

 continue to pool scheme costs and charge fees to opted-in bodies in 
accordance with the published fee scale as amended following 
consultations with scheme members and other interested parties 
(pooling means that everyone within the scheme will benefit from the 
prices secured via a competitive procurement process – a key tenet 
of the national collective scheme); 

 continue to minimise its own costs, around 4% of scheme costs, and 
as a not-for-profit company will return any surplus funds to scheme 
members. In 2019 it returned a total £3.5million to relevant bodies 
and in 2021 a further £5.6million was returned.  

 

10.2. PSAA will seek to encourage market sustainability in its procurement. 
Firms will be able to bid for a variety of differently sized contracts so 
that they can match their available resources and risk appetite to the 
contract for which they bid. They will be required to meet appropriate 
quality standards and to reflect realistic market prices in their tenders, 
informed by the scale fees and the supporting information provided 
about each audit. Where regulatory changes are in train which affect 
the amount of audit work suppliers must undertake, firms will be 
informed as to which developments should be priced into their bids. 

 
10.3. The scope of a local audit is fixed. It is determined by the Code of Audit 

Practice (currently published by the National Audit Office) , the format of 
the financial statements (specified by CIPFA/LASAAC) and the 
application of auditing standards regulated by the FRC. These factors 
apply to all local audits irrespective of whether an eligible body decides 

Page 56



to opt into PSAA’s national scheme or chooses to make its own 
separate arrangements. The requirements are mandatory; they shape 
the work auditors undertake and have a bearing on the actual fees 
required. 

 
10.4. There are currently nine audit providers eligible to audit local authorities 

and other relevant bodies under local audit legislation. This means that 
a local procurement exercise would seek tenders from the same firms 
as the national procurement exercise, subject to the need to manage 
any local independence issues. Local firms cannot be invited to bid. 
Local procurements must deliver the same audit scope and 
requirements as a national procurement, reflecting the auditor’s 
statutory responsibilities. 

11. Assessment of options and officer recommendation 
 
11.1 If the council did not opt in there would be a need to establish an 

independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment, as 
outlined in 6.1 above. This means that elected members would not 
have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm 
to award a contract for the council’s external audit.  

 
11.2 Alternatively, the Act enables the council to join with other authorities to 

establish a joint auditor panel, see 6.2 above.  
 
11.3 These would be more resource-intensive processes to implement for 

the council, and without the bulk buying power of the sector-led 
procurement would be likely to result in a more costly service. It would 
also be more difficult to manage quality and independence 
requirements through a local appointment process. The council is 
unable to influence the scope of the audit and the regulatory regime 
inhibits the council’s ability to affect quality. 

 
11.4 The council and its auditor panel would need to maintain ongoing 

oversight of the contract. Local contract management cannot, however, 
influence the scope or delivery of an audit. 

 
11.5. The national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor 

with limited administrative cost to the council. By joining the scheme, 
the council would be acting with other councils to optimise the 
opportunity to influence the market that a national procurement 
provides. 

 

Page 57



11.6 The principal risks are that the council: 
 

 fails to appoint an auditor in accordance with the requirements and 
timing specified in local audit legislation; or 

 does not achieve value for money in the appointment process.  

 These risks are considered best mitigated by opting into the sector-
led approach through PSAA. 

 
11.7. The recommended approach is therefore to opt into the national auditor 

appointment scheme. 

12. The way forward 
 
12.1 PSAA will commence the formal procurement process in early February 

2022. It expects to award contracts in August 2022 and will then consult 
with authorities on the appointment of auditors so that it can make 
appointments by the statutory deadline of 31 December 2022. 

13. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
Page: 8 

There is a risk that current external audit fee levels could increase when 

the current contracts end. It is clear that the scope of audit has 

increased, requiring more audit work. There are also concerns about 

capacity and sustainability in the local audit market. 

Opting into a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure 

fees are as realistic as possible, while ensuring the quality of audit is 

maintained, by entering into a large scale collective procurement 

arrangement. 

If the national scheme is not used some additional resource may be 

needed to establish an auditor panel and conduct a local procurement. 

Until a procurement exercise is completed it is not possible to state 

what, if any, additional resource may be required for audit fees from 

2023/24. 

b) Staffing Implications 
None 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
There are no equality and poverty implications. 

Page 58



d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None 

e) Procurement Implications 
Acceptance of the PSAA opt-in invitation will avoid the need to 
undertake a procurement exercise, while ensuring that the council’s 
obligations are met 

f) Community Safety Implications 
None. 

14. Consultation and communication considerations 
 
None. 

15. Background papers 
 

Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments from 

April 2023.  

16. Appendices 

None. 

17. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact Caroline Ryba, Head of Finance and Section 151 
Officer, tel: 01223 - 458134, email: caroline.ryba@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Draft Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

To:  
Civic Affairs     2 February 2022 

Report by:  

Deborah Simpson, Head of Human Resources 

Tel: 01223 458101  Email: deborah.simpson@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

 
 
 
 
 

Open 
 

1. Introduction    

 
1.1 This report sets out a draft pay policy statement as required under the 

Localism Act. The Localism Act requires the Council to have considered, 
approved and published a pay policy statement for each financial year. 
This must be approved by Full Council and be in place by 31st March each 
year.  

 

1.2 The pay policy statement covers posts designated ‘chief officer’. For 
Cambridge City Council this includes the chief executive, directors and 
heads of service.  The areas to be covered in the statement are: salary, 
expenses, bonuses, performance-related pay, severance payments, how 
election fees are paid and the pay policy on re-engagement of ex-
employees.  The Localism Act also requires the statement to define the 
lowest paid employees and the ratio to the highest earning employee.  

 
1.3 This report presents the Council’s Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 for 

consideration by Civic Affairs and Council. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



2. Recommendations 
 
The Civic Affairs Committee is asked to: 
 
2.1 Consider and recommend to Council the draft Pay Policy Statement 

2022/2023 attached as Appendix 1. 
 

2.2 Note the update on the review of senior officer salaries which was 
scheduled for late 2021 and has now been moved until 2022 due to the 
delay in the national pay award settlement for 2021 and the forthcoming 
review of the senior management structure. 
 

2.3 Consider and recommend the proposal for director performance reviews 
to be undertaken by the Chief Executive, as outlined in Section 5. 
 

2.4 Consider and recommend the proposal for chief executive performance 
reviews to be undertaken by the Leader, as outlined in Section 5. 
 

2.5 To recommend to Council to delegate authority to the Head of Human 
Resources to update the Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 should a chief 
executive and/or chief officer and/or NJC pay award be agreed. 
 

3. Background 
 
National Pay Awards 
 
3.1 Pay awards are nationally determined in accordance with the Joint 

Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives, the Joint Negotiating 
Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers and the National Joint Council for 
Local Government Services (NJC) for staff on Bands 1-11.  

 

3.2 There has been no agreement to date on national pay awards for chief 
executives or chief officers (directors and heads of service grade) or 
employees covered by the NJC (Bands 1-11) with effect from 1 April 
2021.   

 
3.3 There is currently a national pay dispute in relation to the 2021/22 annual 

pay award.  An offer of 1.75% was made for NJC staff and 1.5% for chief 
executives and chief officers.  These offers have been rejected and there 
have recently been ballots taking place concerning potential for industrial 
action by Unison, Unite and GMB.  

 

Page 62



3.4 It is currently expected that the national pay award will not be settled 
before 31 March 2022 and that there will be backdating of any agreement 
to 1 April 2021. 

 
3.5 There will be an oral update on the current national pay situation at the 

Civic Affairs meeting. 

 
3.6 The Pay Policy Statement will need to be updated if any nationally 

agreed pay awards are implemented.  It is recommended that the Head 
of HR be given delegated authority to update the pay policy as 
necessary. 

 
4. Senior Officer Pay Review 
 
4.1 The Council has an agreement that senior officer pay scales will be 

reviewed every three years in line with the current market median level 
pay, this includes chief executive, director and heads of service salaries.  
 

4.2 The last review was undertaken in 2019 and the outcome was reported in 
the 2020 Pay Policy Statement. The outcome of the review was that the 
current pay levels for the posts of chief executive, director and heads of 
service would remain unchanged at that time, but a further review of the 
chief executive pay level would take place in 2020, following recruitment 
to the post of Chief Executive.  

 
4.3 The review of the chief executive level salary was moved to late 2021 

following the recruitment process having only concluded in December 
2020 and  the 2022 scheduled three-year review of senior officer pay was 
to be brought forward into 2021 to coincide with this review. 

 

4.4 There has not been a national pay award with effect from 1 April 2021 
and there is now a national pay dispute.  In the current circumstances it 
is unlikely than any award will be agreed before 31 March 2022.  Pay 
points within these grades are subject to any nationally agreed pay 
awards and would increase in line with any nationally agreed 
percentage.   

 
4.5 The Council is embarking on an ambitious transformation programme, 

Our Cambridge, which will include a review of the senior management 
structure.  It is expected that proposals for a revised senior management 
structure will be made during 2022.  This review could include proposed 
changes to the pay structure and therefore it is prudent to delay the 
proposed senior pay review which is based on the current structure. 
 

Page 63



4.6 It is therefore proposed to wait until the current national pay disputes 
have concluded and proposals for the senior management structure are 
determined. The review of senior salaries will now be moved to 2022. 

 
5. Chief Executive and Director Performance Review  

 

5.1 All council officers take part in an annual performance review 
assessment of performance against objectives and the council’s 
competencies. There is also a mid-year review.  For all staff except the 
Chief Executive and Directors this review is undertaken by the line 
manager and the employee.   

 

5.2 For the Chief Executive and Directors this annual assessment of 
performance is undertaken by the Chief Officer Performance Review 
Working Party, appointed by Civic Affairs to carry out annual appraisals 
of Chief Officers (defined as the Chief Executive and Directors).  This is 
a working party and not a committee and currently comprises 6 
Councillors. 

 
5.3 Discussions have taken place with the former Leader, new Leader, 

Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources and Chief Executive 
about reviewing the arrangements for Director and Chief Executive 
performance review.   

 
5.4 It is proposed that in future the performance of the Directors would be 

assessed by the Chief Executive. The proposal includes that the Chief 
Executive will consult with Group Leaders and relevant Executive 
Councillors and will undertake a form of 360 degree consultation with 
external partners, peers and direct reports in order to give a range of 
feedback to inform the discussions with the Director. 

 
5.5 The Chief Executive’s performance could be assessed in a similar way, 

with a facilitated review meeting with the Leader, consultation with Group 
Leaders and a form of 360 consultation with external partners, peers and 
direct reports to give a range of feedback.  It is proposed that there 
would be a Facilitator to assist with gathering feedback and facilitating 
the review meeting.    

 
5.6 It is proposed that the revised process be implemented for the two 

Director posts and Chief Executive for the 2022/23 performance reviews. 

 

Page 64



6.Implications 

a) Financial Implications 

The Council has made budget provision in the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy for 2.5% pay inflation in 2021/22 and 2.0% for 2022/23.   

Any costs associated with facilitation of the Chief Executive performance 
review will be met from existing budgets. 

b) Staffing Implications 
This report relates to the pay, terms and conditions of staff. 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
 An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken for this report. 

Equality information by grade is reported annually to the Equalities Panel 
and is available on the Council’s website. 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
The proposals in this report have no climate change impact. 

e) Procurement Implications 
The Living Wage Policy as it relates to contractors is included in the Pay 
Policy Statement. 

f) Community Safety Implications 
This report relates to the pay, terms and conditions of staff and does not 
impact directly on community safety matters. 

7.Consultation and communication considerations 
 
7.1 The Chief Executive, Directors, Head of Legal Practice, Head of Finance, 

Payroll Manager, Democratic Services Manager and Equality and Anti-
Poverty Officer have been consulted on this report and the attached draft 
Pay Policy Statement.  
 

7.2 This pay policy statement once approved by Full Council will be 
published on the Council’s website.  The Pay Policy Statement will be 
updated following any agreed national pay award changes which affect 
the council’s pay scales. 

8. Background papers 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 

 City Council Pay scales 

 Constitution – Chief Officer Performance Review Working Party  
 

Page 65



9. Appendices 

Appendix 1- Pay Policy Statement 2022/23. 

10. Inspection of papers 
 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact:  Deborah Simpson, Head of Human Resources, Tel: 
01223 458101, email: Deborah.Simpson@cambridge.gov.uk. 

  

Page 66

mailto:Deborah.Simpson@cambridge.gov.uk


 Appendix 1 
 
 
           
Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 
 
Scope 
 

This pay policy statement covers the posts of the chief executive, directors and heads of 
service. 

 
The Council is an accredited Real Living Wage Employer and this statement incorporates 
the Council’s policy on the Real Living Wage. This statement also incorporates the 
Cambridge Weighting which is paid as a pay supplement to bring the minimum council pay 
rate to £10.00 per hour. 

 
The Council has a number of apprenticeship opportunities and there is a statement relating 
to apprenticeships. 

 
Salary 

 
The salary scales for the chief executive, directors and heads of service, following the 
nationally agreed pay award with effect from 1 April 2020, are shown below. There have 
been no nationally agreed pay awards with effect from 1 April 2021. 

 
Progression through the pay band (a four-point scale) is subject to a range of criteria that 
are currently assessed via the annual performance review. 

 
 

Post Point 1 Point 2 Point 3 Point 4 

Chief Executive £118,470 £123,502 £128,526 £133,588 

Director £91,388 £94,998 £98,602 £102,212 

Head of Service £70,942 £73,357 £75,737 £78,154 

 
 

Review of Salary levels 
 
The Council has an agreement that senior officer pay scales will be reviewed every three 
years in line with current median level pay.  A review of senior officer salaries was 
undertaken in 2019 and the outcome of the review was that the current pay levels for the 
posts of Chief Executive, Director and Heads of Service would remain unchanged at that  
time but a further review of the Chief Executive pay level would take place in 2020 
following recruitment to the post of Chief Executive. 
 
The recruitment process for the post of Chief Executive concluded in December 2020 and 
so the review was rescheduled to late 2021. The 2022 scheduled three-year review of 
senior officer pay was to be brought forward into 2021 to coincide with this review. 
 
Pay points within these grades are subject to any nationally agreed pay awards with effect 
from 1 April 2021 and would increase in line with any nationally agreed percentage. 

Page 67



 
The Council is embarking on an ambitious transformation programme, Our Cambridge, 
which will include a review of the senior management structure.  It is expected that 
proposals for a revised senior management structure will be made during 2022.  This 
review could include proposed changes to the pay structure and therefore it is prudent to 
delay the proposed senior pay review which is based on the current structure. 
 
It is therefore proposed to wait until the current national pay disputes have concluded and 
proposals for the senior management structure are determined. The review of senior 
salaries will now be moved to 2022. 
 
Pay Awards 

 
Pay awards are nationally determined in accordance with the Joint Negotiating Committee 
(JNC) for Chief Executives and the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers. 
 
At the time of drafting this pay policy there have been no pay awards with effect from April 
2021. 
 

 Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
The terms and conditions of employment for the chief executive, directors and heads of 
service within the scope of this pay policy statement are determined in accordance with 
collective agreements, negotiated from time to time, by the JNC for Chief Executives and 
the JNC for Chief Officers, as set out in the Scheme of Conditions of Service.  These are 
supplemented by local collective agreements reached with trade unions recognised by 
the Council and by the rules of the Council. 

 
 
Remuneration on Recruitment 

 
Recruitment to the posts of chief executive and director is undertaken by a committee of 
Councillors appointed by Council. In the case of the chief executive, the appointment is 
made by Full Council, following a recommendation from the Employment (Senior Officer) 
Committee. Recruitment to posts of director is subject to notification to Executive 
Councillors before a job offer can be made. The salary on recruitment will be within the 
current salary range for these posts at that time. 

 
Recruitment to posts of head of service is undertaken by the chief executive or a director. 
The salary on recruitment will be within the current salary range for these posts at that 
time. 

 
There are occasions when the salary determined by the grading for a post results in an 
inability to successfully recruit to or retain staff in particular posts or specific occupational 
areas due to fluctuations in the labour market supply.  These recruitment and retention 
problems can affect ability to deliver services. In such cases it may be appropriate to pay a 
market supplement in addition to the salary where there is evidence to justify that market 
factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a higher rate of pay than other 
posts graded similarly. Any additional market supplement will be made in accordance with 
the Market Pay Policy. 
 
There may be occasions when due to recruitment and retention difficulties within a specific 
service area or role, it may be more appropriate to use a recruitment and retention 
package approach than a market supplement. Such an approach offers a fixed lump sum 

Page 68



payment for new appointments or to the staff in identified roles at a given date.  The 
payment is tied to a defined retention period (usually two years) and must be repaid in full 
if the person leaves the employment of the Council within the designated period. The aim 
of this approach is to recruit new staff and retain existing staff where there is evidence of 
both types of difficulty and a market supplement approach is assessed as less effective. 
 
Rules governing the recruitment of the chief executive, directors and heads of service 
are set out in the council’s constitution in section; Part 4i, Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules. 
 
Bonuses 

 
There are no bonus arrangements payable to the chief executive, directors or heads 
of service. 
 
Performance Related Pay 

 
Performance and progression through the pay band is assessed annually in line with the 
Council’s performance review schemes. For the chief executive and directors, 
performance is assessed by a panel of Councillors, the Chief Officer Performance Review 
Working Party. For heads of service, performance is assessed by their director. 
 
It is proposed that with effect from 2022, the performance review for directors will be 
undertaken by the Chief Executive and for the Chief Executive by the Leader. 

 
There is no performance related pay scheme outside of the performance review 
scheme, which determines the salary point of an officer, within the salary scale set out 
above. 

 
Salaries over £100,000 

 
The posts of chief executive and director have salary ranges which include pay points of 
over £100,000. 

 
Publication of salary data 

 
Salary data for the chief executive, directors and heads of service is published on the 
council’s website, in Open Data, Transparency in local government, senior salaries. 

 
This pay policy statement once approved by Full Council will be published on the 
Councils website. 

 

Expenses 
 
The expenses which may be payable to the chief executive, a director or head of service 
include: 

- car/bicycle/motorcycle allowances at HMRC rates 
- re-imbursement of travel and subsistence 
- one professional subscription per annum 
- payments under the eye-sight tests scheme 
- relocation assistance in accordance with the Relocation Scheme 

 

Page 69



Severance Payments 
 
Severance payments are made in accordance with the council’s employment policies and 
are the same for all staff. 

 
Employees with more than two years’ service will be entitled to redundancy pay in line 
with local government guidelines and statutory provisions. Redundant employees may 
receive the following elements in their final pay: 

 
- Normal pay up to the agreed leaving date 
- Where applicable, payment in lieu of outstanding notice 
- Severance payment (where entitled). 

 
Under the council’s redundancy scheme a weeks pay will be calculated on the basis of 
actual weekly pay. Cambridge City Council will not apply the statutory weeks pay 
definition. 
 
Once an employee is in receipt of early payment of pension benefits, if their total pay and 
pension benefits together (if reemployed by another employer covered by the Local 
Government Modification order) exceeds their salary as at the leaving date, the 
difference may be claimed back from pension payments. 

 
An employee will lose their entitlement to redundancy pay if they take up a post with 
another body covered by the Redundancy Payments (Local Government) 
(Modification) (Amendment) Orders within 4 weeks of the date of the redundancy and 
the offer of the new job has been made before the end of the original contract. 

 

Any proposals with a salary or severance package with a total value over £100k will be 
reported by the Employment (Senior Officer) Committee to Full Council for decision.   

 
The chief executive, monitoring officer and chief finance officer can only be dismissed by 
the Full Council. All other directors and heads of service can only be dismissed in 
accordance with the Councils constitution, Part 4i, Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

 
 
Pension and Pension Enhancements 

 
The employees within the scope of this pay policy are entitled to and receive pension 
contributions under the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a contributory 
scheme and they currently contribute between 9.9% and 11.4% of their pensionable pay 
to the scheme. 

 
The employer contribution rate is currently 17.4% i.e. the council contributes 17.4% of 
pensionable pay to the pension of a member of staff within the pension scheme.  The 
rate of 17.4% is the same for all staff. The rate is reviewed every 3 years following a 
valuation of the fund by the appointed actuaries. A review was undertaken in 2019, with 
the outcome effective for 2020/21. 

 
The Council’s discretions on enhancement of pension are set out in the Pensions 
Discretion Statement 2019. This policy was approved by the Civic Affairs Committee on 
the 30 January 2019. The policy is reviewed every 3 years and/or in line with changes to 

Page 70



the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) as advised by the Local Government 
Pensions Committee (LGPC) and the Administering Authority (Cambridgeshire County 
Council).  
 
It was anticipated that there would be changes to the LGPS following consultation on 
proposed changes in 2020 and 2021. However, no changes have yet been implemented.   
These proposals were also associated with the introduction in November 2020 and 
subsequent removal in February 2021 of the Exit Cap provisions.  The pensions 
discretions were to be reviewed in line with the proposed changes to the LGPS which 
have not yet been introduced.  
 
There is no current update on proposals to re-introduce the Exit Cap provisions following 
a further consultation on Special Severance Payments which closed in August 2021 or 
any changes to the LGPS. The next review of the Pensions Discretion Statement will now 
take place in 2022. 
 
Pay Ratios, Real Living Wage, Cambridge Weighting and Apprenticeships 
 
Set out below are the Council’s pay arrangements with regard to the Real Living Wage, the 
Cambridge Weighting, apprenticeships, and the highest paid council staff.  
 
The table below shows a number of pay ratios.  
 
The Council does not have a policy on maintaining or reaching a specific pay ratio between 
the lowest and highest paid staff. 
 

 Apprentices 
 
The Council has engaged a number of apprentices in apprenticeship roles where these 
roles provide development opportunities and do not replace existing posts.  They are 
outside of the Real Living Wage and Cambridge Weighting policies and where we pay 
apprentices in line with the National Living Wage/Minimum Wage Rates in their first year 
of apprenticeship.  
 
The current lowest rate for an apprentice is £8.91 and this pay rate has been used in 
the ratios. 
 
The Council also offer apprenticeships to current employees who are paid in accordance 
with their existing pay arrangements during the apprenticeship. 
 

 Lowest paid staff  
 
The lowest paid staff within the Council’s pay structure are on Band 1. We have chosen 
staff employed on Band 1 as our definition of the ‘lowest paid’ for the purposes of this 
policy.  The current lowest pay point is £18,198 (£9.43 per hour) 
 
Cambridge City Council is an accredited Real Living Wage employer and also pays a 
Cambridge Weighting supplement. This means that the minimum pay level for staff is 
£10.00 per hour, equivalent to £19,294. 
 
The terms and conditions of employment for Band 1 staff are in accordance with 
collective agreements, negotiated from time to time, by the National Joint Council for 

Page 71



Local Government Services, as set out in the Scheme of Conditions of Service 
(commonly known as the Green Book). These are supplemented by local collective 
agreements reached with trade unions recognised by the Council and by the rules of the 
Council. 

 
Pay policies which apply to Band 1 employees include: 

 
- car/bicycle/motorcycle mileage at HMRC rates 
- re-imbursement for travel and subsistence 
- overtime/enhanced rates 
- standby and callout arrangements 
- one professional subscription per annum 
- payments under the eye-sight tests scheme 

- Travel scheme (where applicable) 
 

 Median average of employees 

The current median average salary is £32,234. 
 

 Real Living Wage 
 
The Council is accredited with the Living Wage Foundation which means it has adopted a 
Real Living Wage policy for staff, agency workers and contractors engaged through the 
Council’s Procurement processes. 
 
The implementation date for Real Living Wage increases is November for staff engaged on 
city council terms and conditions of employment.  Following changes to roles within 
Cultural Services we have now removed the later April implementation date which applied 
to former Cambridge Live terms and conditions. With effect from November 2021 the Real 
Living Wage has increased to £9.90 per hour.   

 
The Council will pay the Real Living Wage rate for staff engaged on city council pay rates 
by way of a supplement to pay rates.  
 
The Council will pay the minimum of the relevant Real Living Wage rate to agency 
workers after 4 weeks of their engagement with the City Council. 
 
The Council will require contractors engaged through the Council’s procurement processes 
to pay at least the Real Living Wage to all their staff who work on the Council’s premises (or 
land maintained by the Council) for two or more hours on any day of the week for eight or 
more consecutive weeks.  The only contracts that will be excluded from the requirement to 
pay the Real Living Wage are: 

 
o contracts where it would be unlawful to require the payment of the Real Living 

Wage 

o contracts where, following evaluation, it is considered inappropriate to impose the 
requirement. 

 

 Cambridge Weighting 
 

The Council implemented a Cambridge Weighting with effect from 1 April 2018, paid to 
employees on city council terms and conditions of employment and related agency 

Page 72



workers earning less than £10.00 per hour. From April 2020 this rate was also applied to 
employees on Cambridge Live terms and conditions of employment and related agency 
workers. The weighting i s  paid in addition to salary, the R eal Living Wage 
supplement, to bring the hourly rate to an equivalent of £10.00 per hour (£19,294).  
For agency worke rs  the weighting applies in addition to current hourly rates and the 
Real Living Wage arrangements. The weighting is variable, depending upon the current 
hourly rate and the Real Living Wage supplement payable at that time. 
 

 Chief Executive  

The highest paid officer of the council is the chief executive.  The highest pay point on this 
scale is currently £133,588 (April 2020).   
 
 

 Pay Ratios 

 
 

Annual 
Salary 

Ratio to Chief 
Executive 

salary/Highest 
pay point 

Explanation 

Apprentice rate of £8.91 £17,187 1:7.77 Chief Executive pay scale 
highest pay point and lowest 
apprenticeship rate  

Real Living Wage Rate 
of £9.90 (November 
2021) 

£19,100 1:6.99 Chief Executive pay scale 
highest pay point and real 
Living Wage rate of £9.90 
 

Lowest council pay scale 
point (£9.43) 

£18,198 1:7.34 Chief Executive pay scale 
highest pay point and lowest 
council pay scale point 

Cambridge Weighting – 
minimum £10.00  

£19,294 1:6.92 Chief Executive pay scale 
highest pay point and £10.00 
hour Cambridge Weighting 

Median Average salary £32,234 1:4.14 Chief Executive pay scale 
highest pay point and current 
median average salary  

Chief Executive  
Highest pay point 

£133,588 - Chief Executive’s highest 
pay point 

 
 
Election Fees 

 
The Returning Officer is the person who has the overall responsibility for the conduct of 
elections. The Returning Officer is an officer of the Council who is appointed under the 
Representation of the People Act 1983. Although appointed by the Council the role of the 
Returning Officer is one of a personal nature and distinct and separate from their duties 
as an employee of the Council.  Elections fees are paid for these additional duties and 
they are paid separately to salary. 

Page 73



 
The role of Chief Executive is the council’s Returning Officer. 

 
The fees for Parliamentary, Police & Crime Commissioner, Euro Elections and national 
referenda are set by the Government. The fees for County Council elections are set by 
the County Council. The fees for the Combined Authority Mayoral election are set by the 
Combined Authority. The fees for Parliamentary and European Elections are pensionable. 

 
Fees for district elections are set locally and current fees were agreed by the Civic Affairs 
Committee in April 2010 as £373 per contested ward and £55 per uncontested ward.  Fees 
for district elections are pensionable.  These fees are currently under review. 
 
Other officers, including senior officers within the scope of this policy, may receive 
additional payment for specific election duties. 

 
 
Tax Avoidance and IR35 

 
The Council takes tax avoidance seriously and will seek to appoint individuals to vacant 
positions using the recruitment procedures on the basis of contracts of employment and 
apply direct tax and National Insurance deductions from pay through the operation of 
PAYE. 

 
Where consultants are recruited the Council will seek to avoid contractual arrangements 
which could be perceived as being primarily designed to reduce significantly the rate of tax 
paid by that person, such as paying the individual through a company effectively, 
controlled by him or her. 

 
These principles will be embedded in contract clauses and guidance for managers when 
employing consultants. 

 
In addition workers employed directly by the Council will be assessed to establish whether 
they fall within scope of the IR35 legislation using the HMRC employment status tool. 
Workers that fall within scope will have Income Tax and National Insurance contributions 
deducted and paid over to HMRC. 

 
The Council will continue to advice employment agencies for each role, whether the role 
has been assessed to be within scope of IR35, or not. 

 
 
Re-engagement of ex City Council staff within the scope of this policy 

 
All permanent or fixed term posts are advertised in accordance with the council’s 
recruitment policies and appointment is made on merit. 

 
Interim management appointments are made in accordance with the council’s 
procurement policies and the provisions for contract for services. 

 
The council will not engage an ex-city council member of staff within the scope of 
this policy outside of these arrangements. 

 
 
January 2022 

Page 74



 

 
Agenda page no. 

 

Item  

RISK MANAGEMENT  

STRATEGY & FRAMEWORK 

1.  Introduction / Executive Summary 

1.1 This report provides an update on the agreed actions from the previous 

meeting of Civic Affairs Committee in September 2021.  

2.  Recommendations 

2.1 Civic Affairs Committee is asked to: 

 Note the work undertaken by Internal Audit since the last committee 

and the outline of proposals for further Risk Management work to be 

completed. 

 Advise whether subsequent progress reports are required at future 

meetings of the Committee. 

  

To:  

Civic Affairs Committee [2nd February 2022] 

Report by:  

Jonathan Tully, Head of Shared Internal Audit Service  

Tel: 01223 458180 Email: jonathan.tully@cambridge.gov.uk 

Stephanie Fisher, Principal Internal Auditor  

Tel: 01223 458184 Email: stephanie.fisher@cambridge.gov.uk 

 

Wards affected:  

All 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9

mailto:jonathan.tully@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:stephanie.fisher@cambridge.gov.uk


 
Agenda page no. 

 

 

3. Risk Management Work Undertaken 
 

3.1 Administration 

3.2 A data cleansing exercise has been completed to update/de-activate 

user profiles on the corporate risk management system, 4Risk. As a 

result, we have reduced the number of active users from @150 to 85. 

The majority of this work included identifying all risks and/or actions 

allocated to officers who had left the Authority, establishing the current 

responsible officer and re-assigning these risks/actions to these officers. 

Following completion of this exercise there remains @85 current user 

profiles on the 4 Risk System. 

3.3 Starters & Leavers data is now being regularly received via the I-Trent 

Human Resources system. This data enables us to ensure that risks are 

re-assigned promptly when officers leave and ensure continuity in the 

risk management process when changes in personnel take place. 

3.4 Risk review dates held in the 4risk system have been aligned to 

correspond with financial quarters to facilitate the collation of quarterly 

performance data. 

3.5 Our Risk Management pages are being regularly updated to notify 

officers of Risk Management Training and 4 Risk system changes, as 

well as providing links to useful risk management information such as the 

4 risk System and the Risk Management Strategy & Framework. 

3.6 Historically 4 Risk users have only had access to their own service risks, 

with members of SLT having access to all risks. We have recently 

extended access rights for all members of the Senior Management Team 

(SMT) to also enable them to view all corporate/service and shared 

services risks, in addition to editing their own service risks. It is hoped 

this this will provide greater transparency, increase awareness and 

understanding of risks and interdependencies across the council where 

there may be opportunities for joined up risk management to identify and 

mitigate risks. 

3.7 On the 2nd December 2021 we migrated all 4 Risk users to Single Sign 

on (SSO) providing benefits for both users and system administration. 

Users no longer need to remember usernames and passwords and 

administrative support is no longer required to reset passwords. User 

credentials are linked to existing network profiles and therefore only 

officers with an active 4 Risk profile and a matching, active Council 

Page 76



 
Agenda page no. 

 

 

Anywhere e-mail address will be able to access the 4 Risk system. SSO 

ensures that robust password/access controls are still maintained. 

 

3.8 Performance 

3.9 Following consultation with both the Senior Leadership Team and Senior 

Management Teams (SLT & SMT) a set of Key Risk Indicators has been 

agreed and from Q2 have been included in the Quarterly Performance 

Report. The indicators reported are:  

 Percentage of risks reviewed; 

 New & emerging risks; 

 Increasing Risks; and  

 Decreasing risks.  

3.10 These indicators can be provided at both corporate and service level. It 

is hoped that the reporting of performance indicators will stimulate a more 

collaborative approach to risk identification/mitigation and management 

as well as provide an insight in to how well we are undertaking risk 

management activities (i.e., regularly reviewing existing risks and adding 

new ones).  

3.11 In November 2021 we presented our first half yearly update report to 

SMT. This report included an update on recent and planned Risk 

Management activities, KPI’s as well as a focus on topical risks 

(environmental and EU transition). This update was well received by 

SMT. 

 

3.12 Training & Support 

3.13 As requested by Members, the Risk Management Strategy & Framework 

now includes a version control for ease of reference. This will be updated 

as and when any changes are made to the document.  

3.14 A series of formal and ad-hoc training sessions have been delivered, 

providing an overview of the 4Risk system and responsibilities of 

risk/actions owners. Six sessions have been delivered, with 17 officers 

attending these sessions, since we last reported to Civic Affairs. We have 

received positive feedback from attendees and noticed an increase in 

activity on the 4 Risk system. The formal training sessions have been 

promoted through the corporate Learning & Development programme 

whilst ad-hoc trainings sessions have been delivered in response to 

Page 77



 
Agenda page no. 

 

 

requests for new starters or for officers unable to attend the formal 

sessions. 

3.15 As a result of our increased Risk Management profile we have been 

invited to attend departmental management meetings to update officers 

on Risk Management activities as well as answer any related questions 

they may have. 

3.16 The cleansed user profile data was used to identify officers who had not 

logged into the system recently and invite them to attend the 4 Risk user 

training sessions. 

4. Planned Risk Management Work 

4.1 The first half yearly report to SLT is to be presented in January and 

alongside this report we are also running a workshop to review corporate 

risks. 

4.2 With the implementation of a new Risk Management Strategy, 

appointment of new Chief Executive, Transformational change and a 

renewed focus on risk management, SLT have agreed to undertake a 

zero-based approach to corporate risks. A workshop is to be held with 

the Senior Management Team in January 2022 to identify and agree the 

corporate risks for the organisation. 

4.3 The November 2021 Risk Management update to SMT generated a 

discussion around consistency of risk scoring and as a result a Risk 

Scoring Workshop has been planned for January 2022.  

4.4 RSM Tenon recently presented a demonstration of V2 of the 4Risk 

system. We are awaiting confirmation of a launch date, but provisional 

timescales are for a release during Spring 2022. The new version has a 

very different look with several enhanced functions and as a result all 

users will require training on the new system when it is rolled out.  

4.5 Historically, we have only recorded the Residual Risk scores in the 4Risk 

system. It is our intention to liaise with all Heads of Service/risk owners 

to undertake an exercise to capture the Inherent Risk score for all risks 

so that analysis of the effectiveness of controls can be undertaken. 

  

Page 78



 
Agenda page no. 

 

 

5. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

None. 

(b) Staffing Implications 

None. 

(c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

None.  

(d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental 

Implications 

None. 

(e) Procurement Implications 

None. 

(f) Community Safety Implications 

None. 

6. Consultation and communication considerations 

Not applicable.  

7. Background papers 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 Risk Management Strategy & Framework – January 2013 

 Orange Book - Management of Risk: Principles and Concepts 

(Revised Feb 2020)  

 Risk Appetite Guidance Note (October 2020)  

 Association of Local Authority Risk Management (ALARM) 

toolkit 2021  

8. Appendices 

 Risk Management Strategy & Framework 

Page 79



 
Agenda page no. 

 

 

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 

contact Jonathan Tully, Head of Shared Internal Audit Service, Tel: 01223 - 

458180, email: jonathan.tully@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 80



 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
  

  

  

Page 81



 

Contents 

Strategy ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 3 

Definition ................................................................................................................. 3 

Aims and Objectives ............................................................................................... 3 

Risk Appetite ........................................................................................................... 3 

Our Processes ........................................................................................................ 4 

Governance ............................................................................................................ 4 

Policy Framework ....................................................................................................... 5 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 5 

Policy Aims ............................................................................................................. 5 

The Benefits of Good Risk Management ................................................................ 6 

How the Council captures and monitors risks ......................................................... 6 

The Risk Management Process .............................................................................. 7 

Risk Categories ...................................................................................................... 8 

Risk Management Escalation ................................................................................. 8 

Roles and Responsibilities ...................................................................................... 9 

Risk Management Lines of Communication .......................................................... 11 

The Importance of an Integrated Approach .......................................................... 11 

Other Risk Systems .............................................................................................. 12 

Communication and Training ................................................................................ 12 

Appendices ............................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix A – Risk Scoring ................................................................................... 13 

Appendix B - Glossary .......................................................................................... 16 

Appendix C - Risk management standards, legislation and guidance .................. 18 

Appendix D - Impact Matrix by Risk Category ...................................................... 19 

  

Version Control  

Version Date Updated by Summary of change 

1.0 22/09/2021 Stephanie 
Fisher 

Approved by Civic Affairs Committee 

    

 

  

Page 82



 

Strategy 
Introduction 

Effective risk management is critical to ensure an organisation maintains its services, 
progresses towards achieving its strategic aims, and provides assurance it is 
operating on sound corporate governance principles. 

Definition 

Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s Governance Framework. The 
objective of the risk management process is to identify, evaluate and control risks and 
opportunities. 

Risks are the possibility that an unwanted or uncertain action or event will cause injury, 
loss, damage or adversely affect the ability to achieve our objectives.  

Opportunities also need to be considered, providing the benefits and rewards outweigh 
the potential risks. 

Aims and Objectives 

Our strategic aim is to: 

• integrate pragmatic risk management into the Council’s culture; 
• raise awareness of the need for risk management by all those responsible for 

managing risk; 
• maintain an ability to anticipate and respond to changing social, environmental 

and legislative changes. 

Risk Appetite 

Risk Appetite is the level of risk within which an organisation aims to operate.  

Risk Tolerance is the level of risk within which an organisation is willing to operate if 

the risk appetite is not achieved and the cessation of such activity is not an option.  

Risk Capacity is the level of risk which the Council is able to take to achieve its 

objectives and considers factors such as legislative and financial constraints. 

  The Risk Universe (All Risks)        

        

  
Risk Appetite Risk 

Tolerance 
Risk 
Capacity 

Beyond 
Capacity   

  

Level of risk we aim to operate within Level of risk 
we are willing 
to operate 
within 

Maximum 
Level of risk 
we can 
operate with 

Beyond 
acceptable 
risk 

  

           

 

In determining our risk appetite, Senior Management will continuously review the 

nature and extent of the key risks that the Council is exposed to and is willing to take 

Page 83



 

to achieve its objectives. Strategic planning and decision-making will reflect this risk 

appetite when identifying the systemic challenges to our Council Vision. 

By understanding our risk appetite, resources can be prioritised and allocated to where 

it is most needed to manage the risks to achieving our objectives whilst maintaining 

and demonstrating value for money. 

Our risk appetite is illustrated on our Risk Scoring Matrix. We have a positive approach 

to risk and, whilst we aim to bring all risks within our appetite, we have a broader risk 

tolerance that we can operate within if activities deliver tangible benefits and rewards 

and support the Council’s objectives. We encourage our staff to take an 

entrepreneurial mindset. We also aim to have an agile culture that frees up our staff 

to work in the most effective way needed to respond to new opportunities and 

changing needs, and to focus on the outcomes that deliver the most value. The Risk 

Management Framework is designed to enable officers to identify these opportunities 

and, where possible, also minimise threats. Good risk management, informed decision 

making and understanding of the associated risks, will help maintain the Council’s 

desired balance of caution and innovation. 

Our Processes  
The Risk Management process involves identifying potential risks and opportunities; 
what might cause them to occur; and what the consequences would be if they happen. 
The process will identify controls that are currently in place to mitigate the risks and 
establish what actions can be taken to further reduce the likelihood of the risk arising 
and the impact should it occur. Risk Management is a continual process and as part 
of this we need to consider learning from previous experiences.  

The greater the understanding of the risks that the Authority is exposed to and the 
causes and consequences of these risks, the more informed future decision making 
should be.  

Our processes, roles and responsibilities, performance and training information are 
detailed within our Policy Framework. 

Governance  

Governance is the system by which the Council ensures that it achieves the right 
outcomes for the citizens of Cambridge in an open and honest way. 

The system of internal control is a key part of the Governance Framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. Internal Audit regularly reviews the 
system of internal control, providing independent assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the controls in place to manage risks. Actions are also agreed with 
management to improve controls where needed. 

Both the Strategy and the Framework will be reviewed regularly to ensure that we 
maintain best practice and an effective risk management system.  

  

Page 84

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/our-vision


 

Policy Framework 
Introduction 

Effective risk management is critical to ensure an organisation maintains its services, 
progresses towards achieving its strategic aims, and provides assurance it is 
operating on sound corporate governance principles. 

The Account and Audit (Amended) Regulations 2015 establishes that is a system for 
managing risk is a key part of our internal control framework. 

A public service organisation must identify, analyse and prioritise risks, as well as 
manage and control risks in a cost-effective manner to maximise the quality and 
efficiency of its service provision and protect its reputation. 

Risk management is about being risk aware and finding ways to do something that 
best minimises threats and maximises opportunities. The key is to identify what those 
risks might be and how to accommodate them in our activities. Our Risk Management 
Policy outlines how this will be done. 

Policy Aims 

The aims of this policy are to: 

 embed a pragmatic risk management culture, reducing bureaucracy and 
improving efficiency and effectiveness; 

 explain how to identify and manage risk; 

 provide a formalised, coordinated, and consistent approach to managing risks 
that is understood by all; 

 inform policy, strategic planning, and operational decisions by identifying key 
risks and their likely impact; 

 preserve and enhance the effectiveness of service delivery and achievement 
of corporate objectives; 

 minimise loss, disruption, damage, and injury and reduce the cost of risk, 
thereby maximising resources; 

 

  

Page 85



 

The Benefits of Good Risk Management  

 

How the Council captures and monitors risks  

The Council uses a web-based risk management system (4Risk) to record and 
manage risks and controls.  

Risks are allocated to Risk Owners or Delegated Risk Owners and are regularly 
reviewed and updated.  

The system can produce reports and statistics to help Risk Owners monitor and 
manage their risks and actions.  

Management Actions, agreed in Internal Audit reports, are also entered into the 4Risk 
system and progress on their implementation is monitored.  

  

Achieve our
objectives and 
deliver services

Support 
Governance 
framework

Greater 
control of 
insurance 

costs

Helps to 
inform the 

decision 
making 
process

Better 
management 

of change 
programmes

Identifies and 
explores 

opportunities 
to enable 

innovation

Supports 
value for 
money

Supports the 
Performance 
management 

framework

Minimises the 
impact of 

failure

Maintains 
service 

provision 
through 

adversity

Manages 
partnership, 

suppliers, 
contractors 
and ongoing 

services

Helps to 
comply with 

legal and 
regulatory 

requirements

Manage 
external 

changes in 
culture, 
political, 

environment 
etc

Page 86



 

The Risk Management Process  

There are a number of critical steps in the process of identifying and managing risk: 

 

 

Step Details 

Identify risks 
and controls 

There is a need to identify the potential risks and exposure that 
may arise.  

In each case the causes of the risk and the consequences of the 
risk occurring should be established.  

In addition, any existing controls in place to mitigate the risks 
should be identified. 

Analyse and 
score risks 

The risks should be analysed and scored to assess the likelihood 
of any risk arising and the potential impact should they occur.  

Please see Appendix A for details of the scoring criteria. 

Identify actions Actions may be taken to avoid, eliminate, reduce or transfer the 
risk.  

Actions will be assigned to an action owner and have a date for 
implementation.  

Actions can be identified by managers or by Internal Audit as a 
result of a planned review.  

Monitoring, 
reporting and 
review  

Risks, controls and actions will be monitored on an ongoing basis 
by directors, heads of service and risk owners.  

The risk management team will report to Strategic Leadership 
Team twice per year, and the Senior Management Team twice 
per year.  

Performance statistics will be included in quarterly Performance 
Management reports and published on the Intranet. 

 

1. Identify risks and 
controls

2. Analyse and 
score risks

3. Identify actions

4. Monitoring 
reporting and 

review

Page 87

https://councilanywhereorg.sharepoint.com/sites/CCC-Finance/SitePages/Risk-Management.aspx


 

Risk management is a continuous process, and risks should be regularly reviewed to 
monitor changes over time. The review of each risk should be recorded on the 4Risk 
system, to demonstrate a review has occurred. 

The 4Risk system issues email reminders when Risks and Actions require review. Six 
monthly reports setting out the significant and high scoring risks will also be produced 
for Directors for review with their Executive Councillor(s).  

Risk Categories  

Risks can be categorised across a number of different themes and categories. The 
Strategic Leadership Team have identified 18 risk categories. Each risk is allocated a 
risk category to which it best fits, some risks will fall into more than one category, and 
in such circumstances the best fit should be selected. Please see Appendix A for a full 
list of the risk categories.  

We also aim to develop thematic risk registers (e.g. Financial Resilience, Information 
Governance) to help managers identify their service risks. 

Risk Management Escalation 

The Council maintains a Service (Operational) risk register for each Service, plus a 
Corporate (Strategic) risk register for the whole Council.  

It is best practice to review your risks in relation to delivery of our Corporate plan and 
delivery of your Service Plans. This helps you to consider where it is best managed 
and monitored. Some factors to consider include: 

 

Service risk Escalation Corporate Risk 

This is a risk which threatens 
delivery of your Service or 
Business Plan objectives. 

Likely to be an operational risk 
(e.g. day to day performance 
management) 

A risk which is best managed 
operationally (i.e. a manager 
can quickly respond to issues 
arising). 

If the risk materialises it will 
have a local impact (i.e. limited 
to one team). 

Which 
register? 

 

This is a risk which threatens 
delivery of our Corporate Plan. 

It is significantly important as it 
has a major impact if it 
materialises. 

It will require at least a single 
member of SLT to manage. 

It is a service risk which is cross 
cutting, effects many teams to 
such a stage that it would benefit 
from Corporate oversight.  

If the risk materialises it will have 
a Corporate impact (i.e. will impact 
many teams at the same time). 

 

Service based risks can be escalated and become Corporate Strategic risks.  

If a risk score is greater than our risk tolerance this would be a good driver for inclusion 
on the Corporate Register, even if it is just temporary.   

 

Page 88

https://councilanywhereorg.sharepoint.com/sites/CCC-CorporateStrategy/SitePages/Corporate-plan.aspx


 

Roles and Responsibilities  

Everyone has a responsibility to manage risks, ensure risks are discussed and, record 
risks in the most appropriate place.  

It is vital that everybody understands the role that they play, with every employee and 
Member of Cambridge City Council being responsible for ensuring effective risk 
management. The roles and responsibilities within the Risk Management Process are 
detailed below: 

  

Group or 

Individual  
Roles and Responsibilities  

Civic Affairs  Members of Civic Affairs have the role of overseeing the effective 

management of risk by officers. In effect this means that they will agree 

the Strategy, Framework and process put forward by officers.  

Executive 

Councillors  
Ensure that risks are considered as part of the Portfolio Planning 

Process. Review and challenge the risks associated with their portfolios 

on a quarterly basis with the relevant Director.  

Strategic 

Leadership 

Team  

Strategic Leadership Team will approve the Risk Management 

Framework Process and Strategy. They will carry out twice yearly 

reviews of the key risks facing the Council and progress with the 

implementation of overdue and outstanding actions.  

Heads of 

Service   
Heads of Service will support the Risk Management framework strategy 

and process.  

Heads of Service are responsible for managing the risks within their 

service or associated projects and ensuring that risk management 

activity and targets for implementing actions are achieved and that the 

risk register is updated on a timely basis.  

Heads of Service will typically be a Risk Owner. The system will allow 

risk ownership to be delegated to a member of their team if this is more 

practical.  

Risk 

Management 

Team   

The Risk Management Team comprises a number of professional leads 
across the Council to help identify emerging risks and proportionate 
controls. 

Internal Audit  Internal Audit is responsible for facilitating the integrated strategy and 
framework, and processes on behalf of the Council and its Strategic 
Leadership Team. They offer advice, guidance, support and challenge 
on all aspects of Risk Management as well as providing training on use 
of the Risk Register (4Risk). 

Internal Audit also provides independent assurance on the effectiveness 
of controls within the Council to mitigate risks. This helps to quality 
assure the risk management process. The risk register is used for 
monitoring the progress with implementation of management agreed 
actions resulting from audit reports.  

As part of the production and presentation of the annual Head of 

Internal Audit Opinion to the Civic Affairs committee, Internal Audit 

comments on the appropriateness of the risk management process 

Page 89



 

within the Council; as well as identifying areas of no or limited 

assurance and the associated actions required.  

Partners  Cambridge City Council works with a wide range of partners in 

delivering its services. It is important that these partners are brought into 

the risk management framework. At times it will be appropriate for 

partnerships / shared services to be undertaken. However, it is essential 

that accountabilities are adequately determined, and that Cambridge 

City Council does not overlook any risks that may arise as a result of its 

involvement in a joint venture. Even where there is transfer of 

operational risks, there will undoubtedly be some residual risks falling on 

the authority. It is not possible to transfer responsibility for the risk 

management process.  

  

  

Page 90



 

Risk Management Lines of Communication  

As highlighted above there are many stakeholders involved in the Risk Management 
process.  

Effective communication helps us to manage risks. The diagram below illustrates the 
role of each stakeholder group and the lines of communication between them. 

 

The Importance of an Integrated Approach  

The Framework detailed above should provide a consistent, integrated top-down 
meets bottom-up approach to risk management – embedding it into our strategy and 
operations.  

  

Page 91



 

Other Risk Systems 

Risks may be identified and recorded in other Risk Management Systems, where it 
makes more practical sense. In these circumstances it makes sense to use the same 
Corporate Scoring Risk Matrix as this enables and supports the escalation of risks to 
the Corporate Risk Register. 

Other risk management systems could include: 

 

Environment System Purpose 

 

Project 
management 

PM3 Risks related to the delivery of projects. 

 

 

Business 
continuity 

Excel or 
Word 

To support agile and quick development of 
risks and controls in an emergency. 

 

Health and 
safety 

Excel or 
Word 

To help identify hazards and mitigation 

 

Thematic 
development 

Excel or 
Word 

Working papers for the development of 
thematic risk registers – e.g., Financial 
Resilience or Information Governance. 

These are typically strategic and cross cutting 
documents and can be used as reference tools 
for identifying service risks. 

We also have an Office Risk Management Templates, uploaded on our Risk 
Management webpages, for the agile identification of risks and to support risk 
identification workshops. 

Communication and Training 

The Risk Management webpages on our intranet have recently been updated and 
enhanced. They include: 

• reference material 
• training and guidance 
• intelligence on emerging risks 

Internal Audit are looking to develop a suite of Risk Management training tools to 
support officers and members. This will include some self -serve videos on how to use 
the 4 Risk system as well as regular Risk Management drop-in sessions, focussing on 
various elements of the Risk Management process. Information regarding such 
training will be published on the Risk Management Intranet pages.

Page 92

https://councilanywhereorg.sharepoint.com/sites/CCC-Finance/SitePages/Risk-Management.aspx#key-documents
https://councilanywhereorg.sharepoint.com/sites/CCC-Finance/SitePages/Risk-Management.aspx#key-documents
https://councilanywhereorg.sharepoint.com/sites/CCC-Finance/SitePages/Risk-Management.aspx


 

 

Appendices 
Appendix A – Risk Scoring 

 

Risk Scoring Matrix  

 

Im
p
a
c
t 

5 5-10 Medium  5-10 Medium  12-15 Significant  16-25 High  16-25 High  

4 1-4 Low  5-10 Medium  12-15 Significant  16-25 High  16-25 High  

3 1-4 Low  5-10 Medium  5-10 Medium  12-15 Significant  12-15 Significant  

2 1-4 Low  1-4 Low  5-10 Medium  5-10 Medium  5-10 Medium  

1 1-4 Low 1-4 Low  1-4 Low  1-4 Low  5-10 Medium  

    1 2 3 4 5 

    Likelihood 

 

  

Page 93



 

 

Below is the summary text and guidance included in the 4Risk system. 

Score  Impact  Description  

5  Critical 

The consequences of this event occurring could cause the failure of a number of services 

or result in the Council having its powers removed through government intervention. The 

level of financial impact is likely to be over £500,000 in any year.  

4  
Significant 

disruption &/or 

damaging 

Significant – the consequence of such an event occurring could cause the failure of the 

service or bring the Council into serious disrepute.  

The level of financial impact is likely to be up to £500,000 in any year.  

3  
Noticeable 

effect 

This type of risk event would have a significant impact on a service's ability to provide its 

full range of activities.  

The result of this is that the integrity of the service/Council would be called into question 

by, for example an inspection service.  

The level of financial impact is likely to be up to £300,000.  

2  
Some limited 

disruption 

These types of events can normally be dealt with through the normal day to day 

management of the service and internal control mechanisms.  

The level of financial impact is likely to be up to £50,000 in any year.  

1  
Virtually no 

impact 

These events may be recognized internally but generally have no external impact and can 

be resolved quickly.  

The level of financial impact is likely to be under £5,000 in any year.  

 

Score  Likelihood  Description  

5  Dead Cert  
In this case the event(s) may have already happened in the relatively recent past. Without 

controls it will happen again and may even occur despite controls. Projected increase in 

insurance premiums  

4  Probable  
The event is more likely to happen than not but there remains some possibility it will not. 

The chance of occurrence may be around 75%+.  

3  
Strong 

possibility  
There is an even chance that this event may occur. (A probability would be around one in 

two, (50%)).  

2  
Some 

possibility  

These events are not likely to occur but there remains some possibility it will. (A probability 

of a one in ten chance of this event occurring (10%)).  

1  Little chance  
These events will only occur in exceptional circumstances. (A probability of less than one 

in fifty (2%).  

 

  

Page 94



 

 

Risk Categories  

Risk categories are used to identify the Authority’s main areas of risk and should be used by 
managers to identify and analyse service risks. The risk categories highlight common areas/sources 
of risk within the Authority and should be used as a prompt to ensure that all risks are considered 
when identifying corporate and service risks.  
 

Risk Category   Risk Description  

Financial  Failure to effectively manage the Council's assets and finances 
including budget monitoring, financial priorities, medium/long term 
planning, fraud prevention.  

Health & Safety  Failure to manage health and safety effectively leading to a 
prosecution under the Corporate Manslaughter Act or other health 
and safety legislation.  

Major Projects  Failure to adequately manage and control major CCC projects.  

Climate Change  Failure to meet Council's climate change commitments.  

Recruitment & Retention  Failure to recruit and retain adequate number of suitable staff leading 
to key person dependency and loss of capacity building opportunities.  

Legislation  Failure to ensure compliance with legislation.  

Business Continuity Failure to adequately plan and manage processes for unforeseen 
events (Civil Emergency Plan, Business Continuity Plans, IT failure) 

Reputation  Damage to Council's reputation through adverse media coverage.  

Partnerships  Failure to adequately manage and control partnerships working and 
joint agency activity and key contractor relationships.  

Equalities/Social 
Exclusion  

Failure to manage equalities/social exclusion (including duties for 
specific vulnerable groups).  

Political  Ineffective political leadership, policy development and community 
leadership; member support.  

Officer/Member 
Relationships  

Ineffective officer/member working relationships.  

Planning & Leadership  Opportunity to maintain and continue to improve Council efficiency 
through clear strategic focus, planning and leadership.  

Governance  Inappropriate internal governance.  

Procurement & Contract 
Management  

Failure to ensure effective procurement and contract management 
arrangements.  

IT & Technology  Failure to properly manage IT, data and the Council’s website. 

Change Management  Ineffective management of change, inadequate capacity and 
knowledge.  

Physical Property & 
Assets  

Failure to properly manage property and other assets, to prevent 
damage, loss or theft.  

  

Page 95



 

 

Appendix B - Glossary 

Key Terms  

These are the key terms that a Risk Manager needs to understand in their daily risk management 
responsibilities. 

 

Term Description 

Action  Something in addition to the existing controls which needs to be carried out 
to mitigate a risk. Once implemented actions may become controls.  

Analysing Risk  The evaluation of risk with regard to the severity if the risk is realised, and 
the likelihood of the risk being realised.  

Cause  What will cause the risk to occur.  

Consequence  What the consequence will be should the risk occur.  

Control  Existing checks / processes in place to mitigate a risk.  

Corporate 
(Strategic) Risk  

Potential risks that may prevent the organisation achieving its aims and 
Medium-Term Objectives.  

Impact (Severity)  The probable effect on the Organisation / Service if the risk occurs (scored 
from 1 – 5).  

Likelihood  The probability or chance of the risk occurring (scored from 1 – 5).  

Operational 
(Service) Risk  

Potential risks that managers and officers encounter during their business 
planning and day-to-day service delivery  

Risk  Risk is the uncertainty of outcome, whether a positive opportunity or a 
negative threat, of action and events. It is the combination of likelihood and 
severity.  

Risk Management  All the processes involved in identifying, analysing and profiling risks, 
assigning ownership, taking actions to mitigate or anticipate theme and 
monitoring and reviewing progress.  

Risk Score  The exposure arising from a specific risk after controls have been put in 
place to manage it and making the assumption that the control is effective. 
The score is calculated by multiplying likelihood by severity with controls in 
place.  

 

 

Page 96



 

 

Glossary of Specialist Terms  

These are more detailed risk definitions and terms used by Risk Management Team and specialists. 

 

Term Description 

Opportunity Risk 

 

 

Most risk management standards and guidelines recognise the upside of 
risk. However, many people find the concept of opportunity risk 
management difficult to grasp, due to the negative associations of risk. 

Organisations should proactively manage opportunity risk. If only threat risks 
are managed, the best outcome expected is to meet the promised objectives 
but never to improve on them. The value of identifying opportunity risk and 
threat risk is that the Council can take a strategic approach to tackling the 
risk. 

Threat Risk 

Risk Appetite Level of risk we aim to operate within 

Risk Tolerance Level of risk we are willing to operate within 

Risk Capacity Maximum Level of risk we can operate with 

Risk Universe All of the risks that we document and are managed 

Black swan event An event that comes as a surprise, has a major effect, and is often 
inappropriately rationalized after the fact with the benefit of hindsight 

Grey swan event A potentially very significant event that is considered unlikely to happen but 
still possible. Examples include climate change, population growth, and 
rising debt. 

White swan event An event with a high certainty and easily estimated impact. 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 97



 

 

Appendix C - Risk management standards, legislation and guidance 

These are some of the documents that we use to ensure our Framework stays up to date: 

 ALARM (Association of Local Authority Risk Management) Risk Management Toolkit 2021 

 ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management Guidance 

 HM Treasury - Orange Book 2020 

 Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

 APP National Decision Model 

 APP Risk 

 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016 

 BS 31100:2011 Risk Management British Standard Code of Practice 

 

Page 98



 

 

Appendix D - Impact Matrix by Risk Category 

Scoring risks consistently is important, as it helps us to prioritise our resources where it is most valued. 

It can be challenging to consistently score the impacts of risks across the Council and Partners, as we can have different risk appetites. For example, not all teams have the same budget. 

We tend to score risks according to how easy it is to measure their impact. It can be easy to quantify risks from their financial impact but considering other factors can more difficult. This can make it difficult to score 
risks consistently.  

We have developed this matrix to help you consider the impact of a risk materialising across our different categories.  

Bear in mind that sometimes risks can be cross cutting and fit into more than one category. In such scenarios we would suggest choosing the category where there is the greatest impact. 

 

Risk Category   Risk Description  Virtually no impact Some limited disruption Noticeable effect Significant disruption & / or 
damaging 

Critical 

 Score 1 2 3 4 5 

Financial  Failure to effectively manage 
the Council's assets and 
finances including budget 
monitoring, financial priorities, 
medium/long term planning, 
fraud prevention.  

The level of financial impact 
is likely to be under £5,000 
in any year.  

The level of financial 
impact is likely to be up to 
£50,000 in any year.  

The level of financial 
impact is likely to be up 
to £300,000.  

The level of financial impact 
is likely to be up to £500,000 
in any year. 

The level of financial impact is 
likely to be over £500,000 in 
any year. 

Reputation  Damage to Council's 
reputation through adverse 
media coverage.  

No reputational damage. 

Coverage in media which is 
not typically frequented. 

Limited coverage in social 
media and local media. 

Short term reduction in 
public confidence. 

Elements of public 
expectation not being met. 

Brief coverage in the 
national media. 

Sustained coverage in 
the local media. 

Longer term reduction in 
public confidence. 

Coverage in the national 
media. 

Repeated and extensive 
coverage in the national 
media. 

Commentary from MP in 
Parliament. 

Total loss of public 
confidence. 

Health & Safety  Failure to manage health and 
safety effectively leading to a 
prosecution under the 
Corporate Manslaughter Act or 
other health and safety 
legislation.  

Physical  

No injury/claims.  

 

Minor injury/claims (first aid 
treatment).  

Violence or threat or 
serious injury/claims 
(medical treatment 
required). 

Extensive multiple 
injuries/claims.  

HSE inspection.  

Loss of life. 

HSE inspection. 

Major Projects  Failure to adequately manage 
and control major CCC 
projects.  

Insignificant cost increase 

Schedule slippage 

<5 percent over project 
budget 

5 – 10 percent over 
project budget 

10 - 25 per cent over project 
budget 

25 percent over project 
budget 

P
age 99



 

 

Risk Category   Risk Description  Virtually no impact Some limited disruption Noticeable effect Significant disruption & / or 
damaging 

Critical 

 Score 1 2 3 4 5 

Change Management  Ineffective management of 
change, inadequate capacity 
and knowledge.  

Adhoc officer resistance. 

Insufficient resources 
(time/officers) resulting in 
minor slippage on planned 
implementation timescales. 

 

Minor levels of resistance. 

Insufficient resources 
(time/officers) resulting in 
minor slippage on planned 
implementation timescales. 

Lack of awareness or 
desire to support the 
change at officer level. 

Noticeable levels of 
resistance. 

Insufficient resources 
(time/officers) resulting in 
noticeable slippage on 
planned implementation 
timescales. 

Lack of awareness or desire 
to support corporate change 
amongst Senior 
Management. 

Significant levels of 
resistance. 

Insufficient resources 
(time/officers) resulting in 
significant slippage on 
planned implementation 
timescales. 

 

Lack of awareness or desire 
to support corporate change 
at strategic level 
(SLT/Members). 

High levels of resistance. 

Insufficient resources 
(time/officers) resulting in 
major slippage on planned 
implementation timescales. 

IT & Technology  Failure to properly manage IT, 
data and the Council’s 
website. 

Out of date links on 
Council’s website 

Ad-hoc access issues for 
individual users. 

 IT issues which impact 
individuals for an extended 
period or a small group of 
users, for a short period, 
but does not cause 
disruption to customer 
service. 

Outages due to 
hardware/software 
failures affecting larger 
number of users within a 
service impacting on 
customer service/service 
operations. 

Frequent outages due to 
hardware/software failures 
causing significant disruption 
to multiple service 
operations. 

Major IT outages due to 
failure or Hardware causing 
major disruption to service 
delivery. Software no longer 
supported by suppliers. 

Business Continuity Failure to adequately plan and 
manage processes for 
unforeseen events (Civil 
Emergency Plan, Business 
Continuity Plans, IT failure) 

Insignificant disruption on 
internal business – no loss 
of customer service. 

Less than 1 hour.  

Some disruption on internal 
business only – no loss of 
customer service. 

Interruption of half a day. 

Noticeable disruption to 
Council – would affect 
customers (loss of 
service no more than 48 
hours).  

Major disruption to the 
Council – serious damage to 
organisation’s ability to 
service customers (loss of 
service for more than 48 
hours but less than seven 
days). 

Loss of service delivery for 
more than seven days. 

Recruitment & Retention  Failure to recruit and retain 
adequate number of suitable 
staff leading to key person 
dependency and loss of 
capacity building opportunities.  

Insignificant impact on 
service operation as a result 
of staff turnover. 

Occasional use of temporary 
staff 

Occasional vacant posts for 
a short period 

Minor disruption to internal 
operations due to staff 
leaving/training new 
members of staff. 

Frequent use of temporary 
staff 

Frequent vacant posts for a 
short period 

Significant number of 
staff leaving the council 
resulting in minor 
disruption to service 
delivery. 

Inability to recruit 
experienced permanent 
employees. 

Reliance on temporary 
workers to fill vacant 
posts. 

 

Significant number of staff 
leaving the council resulting 
in major disruption to service 
delivery. 

Inability to recruit 
experienced permanent 
employees.  

Reliance on significant levels 
of temporary staff in 
individual service areas. 

Unable to maintain service 
delivery due to high volumes 
of staff leaving the 
council/inability to recruit in a 
timely manner. 

 

Unable to attract suitable staff 
(permanent/temporary) 

Legislation  Failure to ensure compliance 
with legislation.  

Minor civil litigation or 
regulatory criticism 

Minor regulatory 
enforcement 

Major civil litigation 
and/or local public 
enquiry 

Major civil litigation setting 
precedent and/or national 
public enquiry 

Section 5 notice, Section 151 
or government intervention or 
criminal charges. 

P
age 100



 

 

Risk Category   Risk Description  Virtually no impact Some limited disruption Noticeable effect Significant disruption & / or 
damaging 

Critical 

 Score 1 2 3 4 5 

Partnerships  Failure to adequately manage 
and control partnerships 
working and joint agency 
activity and key contractor 
relationships.  

Minor partnership friction Some delay to projects Project over-run against 
time and cost budgets, 
need for greater 
investment of senior 
officer time 

Projects and initiatives not 
delivered; reputational 
damage and loss of trust 
impacting on future funding 
and partnership proposals 

Irreconcilable breakdown in 
partnerships with loss of 
facility for joint working + 
reputational damage 

Equalities / Social Exclusion  Failure to manage 
equalities/social exclusion 
(including duties for specific 
vulnerable groups).  

Minor impact – queries able 
to be resolved 

Risk of delay to initiatives 
and/or diversion of 
resources to resolve issues 

Extended delays to 
projects and initiatives to 
ensure equalities 
considerations properly 
addressed 

Adverse impacts for people 
with protected 
characteristics; risk of 
challenge; reputational 
damage 

Legal challenge over legal 
compliance; significant 
reputational impact 

Political  Ineffective political leadership, 
policy development and 
community leadership; 
member support.  

Objectives still achieved with 
minimum extra cost or 
inconvenience 

Partial achievement of 
objectives with 
compensating action taken 
or reallocation of 
resources. 

Additional costs required 
and or time delays to 
achieve objectives – 
adverse impact on PIs 
and targets.  

Unable to achieve corporate 
objectives or statutory 
obligations resulting in 
significant visible impact on 
service provision such as 
closure of facilities. 

Unable to achieve corporate 
objectives and/or corporate 
obligations 

Officer/Member Relationships  Ineffective officer/member 
working relationships.  

Queries easily resolved Queries and issues take 
longer to resolve 

Policies and projects 
delayed due to additional 
queries and challenge 

Difficulty in setting budgets 
or approving major policies: 
Significant diversion of 
officer and member time 
spent on issue; may require 
external (e.g. peer support) 

Complete breakdown in 
officer/member relations – 
potential need for external 
intervention; major 
reputational damage 

Planning & Leadership  Opportunity to maintain and 
continue to improve Council 
efficiency through clear 
strategic focus, planning and 
leadership.  

Minor queries, easily 
resolved 

Potential misunderstanding 
of priorities, minor delay / 
disruption to activities and 
initiatives 

Some priorities delayed 
or not delivered due to 
insufficient clarity, 
planning or leadership 

Financial and service 
objectives not met, with 
impacts for stakeholders and 
potential for unplanned 
financial consequences 

Failure to deliver major 
service objectives; customer 
and stakeholder 
dissatisfaction; serious 
financial consequences. 

Governance *  Inappropriate internal 
governance.  

Minor weaknesses in 
governance risk and control 
identified. 

Management can easily and 
quickly rectify and 
implement improvements. 

Independent and external 
assurance reporting 
identifies moderate 
weaknesses in governance 
risk and control. 

Independent and external 
assurance reporting 
identifies major 
weaknesses in 
governance risk and 
control. 

Reporting in the Annual 
Governance statement 
required. 

External inspection 
conducted under section 10 
of the Local Government Act 
1999. 

 

Reporting in the Annual 
Governance statement 
required. 

Intervention and appointment 
of external parties / 
Commissioners to take over 
key functions in relation to 
governance and operations. 

Reporting in the Annual 
Governance statement 
required. 

P
age 101



 

 

Risk Category   Risk Description  Virtually no impact Some limited disruption Noticeable effect Significant disruption & / or 
damaging 

Critical 

 Score 1 2 3 4 5 

Procurement & Contract 
Management  

Failure to ensure effective 
procurement and contract 
management arrangements.  

Limited resource, excessive 
demand for support 

Lack of market visibility, 
unaware of innovations 
that may impact suitability 
of tender. 

Unaware of national trends 
in supply chain 

Lack of contract 
management post award 

Failing to follow procurement 
procedures and legislation 

Lack of planning by 
stakeholder services 

Legislative changes or 
national requirement 

Supplier financially or 
operationally fails 

Physical Property & Assets  Failure to properly manage 
property and other assets, to 
prevent damage, loss or theft.  

Minor damage or loss to 
physical fabric that does not 
prevent ongoing use 

Minor damage or loss to 
physical fabric that does 
not prevent ongoing use 
but disruption due to 
alternative arrangements 
or during repairs. 

Damage or loss to 
physical structure that 
prevents ongoing use 
pending repair 

Significant damage or loss to 
physical structure that 
prevents ongoing use for 
extended period pending 
substantial repair. 

Catastrophic damage or loss 
to physical structure requiring 
full closure and alternative 
premises for ongoing 
operation 

Environmental Failure to properly 
identify/manage environmental 
impact. 

Minimal or no impact on the 
environment. 

Minor impact on the 
environment. 

Moderate impact on 
environment. 

Major impact on 
environment. 

Catastrophic impact on 
environment. 

Performance and Objectives Ineffective performance 
monitoring arrangements. 

Minimal impact on 
performance  

Underperformance not 
detected or reported early, 
opportunity to mitigate may 
be missed 

Underperformance not 
reported resulting in 
inefficiency, cost, delay 
and poor service 

Major impact on 
performance requiring costly 
intervention to recover; 
reputational damage and 
impact on officer-member 
trust 

Total absence or failure of 
performance management 
resulting in service failure, 
complaints, reputational and 
relational damage, potential 
need for external intervention 

 

 

P
age 102



 

 

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION PT4A APPENDIX F(A) - 

PROTOCOL ON MEDIA RELATIONS 

To:  
Civic Affairs Committee     02/02/2022 

Report by:  

ANDREW LIMB, Head of Corporate Strategy  

Tel: 01223 - 457004  Email: Andrew.Limb@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

 
 
 
 

1. Introduction / Executive Summary 
This report recommends removing sections 1-3 of Pt4A Appendix F(A) of the 
constitution to allow the council to be more flexible, take account of changes 
in media practice over the last 20 years, future changes in the way the 
council engages with a rapidly changing media industry, and the changing 
nature of communications and engagement with Cambridge residents and 
communities more broadly.   
 
A document explaining the way the council proposes to conduct its media 
relations going forward has been produced, is attached to this report as 
appendix B and will be maintained and updated by officers and shared with 
councillors or the public on request. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



This report does not recommend removing or changing sections 4 and 5 of 
that part of the constitution, the parts that deal with party political publicity and 
publicity in the run-up to elections. 

2. Recommendations 
That Civic Affairs Committee recommends to Council that sections 1-3 of 
Pt4A Appendix F(A) of the constitution be deleted, as illustrated in Appendix 
A of this report. 

3. Background 
The Council interacts with the media as part of its communication and 
engagement activities.  The purpose is to ensure residents, businesses and 
other stakeholders receive accurate and timely information about the work of 
the council, its policies and services.   
 
This can be through pro-active publication of material as a change in service 
or policy arises, or re-actively in response to stories or information published 
about the council by others. 
 
Councils are required to consider the national Code of Recommended 
Guidance on Local Authority Publicity in their communication activity. 
 
Several years ago a protocol on media relations was incorporated into 
Cambridge City Council’s constitution as Pt4A Appendix F(A).  This stipulates 
the process for producing and approving council press releases, media 
statements and letters to media organisations.  It was produced before the 
advent of social media and rolling news and has not been updated since.   
 
It is unusual for councils to set out the detail of processes for media relations 
in their constitutions.  Some councils do include sections on media relations, 
but few if any prescribe the process for issuing media releases, for instance, 
in the same level of detail as Cambridge City does. 
 
While the process as set out is clear for straightforward media relations such 
as issuing press releases, it has not kept pace with changes in the media 
industry.  At times the process defined in the protocol, and the degree of 
prescription has felt constraining for officers and members seeking to ensure 
accurate information is provided to the media in a timely way, and it has not 
placed professional communications advice to the fore. 
 
Since the media protocol was incorporated into the council’s constitution, the 
way the media works, and the way the council engages with its communities, 
has changed significantly.  Rather than being dominated by a printed daily 

Page 104

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5670/1878324.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5670/1878324.pdf


newspaper, local media activity is now more focused on digital 
communications which don’t have a set print deadline as such but operate 
more on a 24/7 “rolling news” basis. 
 
Recent years have also seen the rapid increase in prominence of social 
media as a very dynamic platform for news and information to be 
disseminated.  The Council is keen to modernise the way it engages with the 
media and its communities, and senior officers have reviewed the way the 
council manages its corporate communications over the past years, learning 
from the Local Government Association and from comparable councils.    
 
Through this review, officers have identified a need to place communications 
professionals more clearly at the heart of the council’s communications 
activity than the media protocol prescribes, in the same way that professional 
officers lead on other areas of council business (such as finance, HR, legal, 
ICT etc.). 
 
As part of this move to modernize and professionalise the councils 
communications activity, the council has, through the 2021 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, provided resources to recruit additional members to the 
corporate communications team.  This will allow a greater degree of 
professional communications expertise to be used in developing clear 
communications materials and making the most of modern media tools and 
techniques. 
 
These improvements do not change the member responsibility for council 
press relations, and it is envisaged that councillors (usually Executive 
councillors) will continue in the majority of instances to sign off press 
releases, in conjunction with senior officers, as before.  (As before, there may 
also be occasions when a media statement needs to be issued by officers 
urgently when an Executive councillor is not available, or when the nature of 
the subject matter requires it). 
 
Similarly, members of other groups on the council will continue to have their 
contact details provided on council press releases, and all councillors will 
continue to receive all council press releases when they are published. 
 
Appendix B shows the process envisaged for media relations in normal 
circumstances.  Variance from this would usually be with the approval of the 
Chief Executive or other appropriate senior officer.  This process note will be 
maintained by the Corporate Communications Manager, and any significant 
changes to it will be communicated to councillors. 
 

Page 105



Removing sections 1-3 of that part of the constitution will allow the council to 
continue to adapt and change its approach in the future as the 
communications function learns by doing what works well; and, as the media 
world the council operates in continues to evolve without having to bring a 
report to council on changes to the constitution. 
 
This would bring Cambridge city council into line with other councils and help 
the council to become the more modern, dynamic, flexible and responsive 
organisation we aspire to be. 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
There are no financial implications of this change to the constitution. 

b) Staffing Implications 
Removing this text from the constitution will not have staff implications.  The 
implications of adopting a more modern approach to media relations (as 
described in Appendix B) will be that the skills and experience of the 
corporate communications team are more fully utilised, and officers in other 
services are better supported in communicating their policies and services. 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
An Equality & Poverty Impact Assessment has not been conducted as it is 
the report author’s view that removing this text from the constitution does not 
have tangible equality or poverty implications. 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
Removing this text from the constitution will not have carbon or climate 
change implications. 

e) Procurement Implications 
n/a. 

f) Community Safety Implications 
n/a. 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
This recommendation relates to the way an internal operation of a council 
function is prescribed in the constitution, and therefore does not have impacts 
on members of the public who use the council’s services that would merit 
consultation or communication. 
 
The wider changes to the way the council’s communication function works in 
the future will be communicated to staff, and to media outlets, in due course. 
 

Page 106



This report has been shared in draft form with the Leaders of the three 
political Groups on the Council. 

6. Background papers 

No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

 

7. Appendices 

Appendix A – Part4A Appendix F(A) of the council’s constitution showing 
proposed amendments to the constitution 
Appendix B – Chart showing updated approach to media relations 

8. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact ANDREW LIMB, Head of Corporate Strategy, tel: 01223 457004, 
email: andrew.limb@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

Appendix F: Conventions For The Conduct Of Council Business  

 
A -– Political neutrality of council publicity Protocol on media relations and 
filming, recording and photography at council meetings 

1. News releases sent to the media 
 
News releases may be used to publicise executive councillor decisions, new council 
policies or projects, major, sensitive or controversial issues or other initiatives.  
 
All news releases should be issued proactively and in a timely way to capture media 
attention. A well-timed news release is more likely to engage reporters and to set the 
tone for positive media coverage. News releases issued before or immediately after a 
decision or event will be of more interest to reporters and therefore have greater 
impact. 
 
News releases issued by the council should adhere to the following protocol: 
 
1. Officers draft the news release to include a quote attributed to the appropriate 

executive councillor(s) or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the regulatory 
committee and director or head of service(s); 

 
Note: Generally executive councillors will be quoted although the council’s 
constitution also allows for news releases arising from scrutiny committee 
decisions and also regulatory committee decisions. In these instances the chair of 
the scrutiny committee or regulatory committee may be quoted and be consulted 
to approve the final draft. Directors or head of service quotes may be included in 
addition to, but not instead of, a councillor quote. 

 
2. Consult corporate marketing if advice on content and format is needed; 
3. Draft news release to include contact details for the appropriate officer, executive 

councillor or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the regulatory committee 
and minority group spokesperson(s); 

4. Draft must be agreed by head of service or director; 
5. Draft must then be agreed by executive councillor or chair of the scrutiny committee 

or chair of the regulatory committee; 
6. Final version issued to media; 
7. Final version sent to all councillors by email immediately after release; 
8. Final version sent to corporate marketing for inclusion on council’s website 

immediately after release. 
 

Note: News releases publicising event programmes for the Corn Exchange do not 
require executive councillor agreement. 

 

2. Responding to media enquiries 
The media may make contact with officers on issues. Officers should give factual 
information and should refer the media to the executive councillor and minority group 
spokesperson(s) for opinion and further comment. 
 

Page 109



APPENDIX A 
 

Request for interviews 
The media may approach officers for interview on a particular issue. The opportunity 
to take part in an interview should first be offered to the relevant executive councillor 
or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the regulatory committee. If the 
councillor is not available officers may conduct the interview only after gaining 
director or head of service level permission to do so.  

 
If an interview request is declined the media should be notified in good time. Saying 
“no comment” is not an acceptable response. The media must be provided with a 
written news statement on the issue as a minimum (see process below). Consult 
corporate marketing if further advice is needed. 

 

News statements 
These are issued in response to media enquiries and may often address specific or 
sensitive issues requiring a quick reply in order to meet media deadlines. News 
statements issued by the council should adhere to the following protocol: 

 
1. Officers draft news statement to include a quote attributed to the 

appropriate executive councillor(s) or chair of the scrutiny committee or 
chair of the regulatory committee and/ or director or head of service(s); 

2. Consult corporate marketing if advice on content and format is needed; 
3. Draft news statement to include contact details for the appropriate officer, 

executive councillor or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the 
regulatory committee and minority group spokesperson(s); 

4. Draft must be agreed by head of service or director; 
5. Draft must then be agreed by executive councillor or chair of the scrutiny 

committee or chair of the regulatory committee; 
6. Final version issued to media; 
7. Final version sent to corporate marketing for information. 

 
Note: Generally executive councillors will be quoted although the council’s 
constitution also allows for news statements arising from scrutiny committee 
decisions and also regulatory committee decisions. In these instances the chair of 
the scrutiny committee or regulatory committee may be quoted and be consulted to 
approve the final draft. Directors or head of service quotes may be included in 
addition to, but not instead of, a councillor quote. 

 
If an executive councillor or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the regulatory 
committee is unavailable to approve the news statement and there is a risk of the 
media deadline being missed the director and/ or head of service has discretion to 
have the quote attributed to themselves and to issue the news statement without 
approval from the relevant councillor. 
 
3. Letters to media organisations 
Occasionally it may be appropriate to send a letter to a media organisation for 
example to respond to an inaccurate report or to clarify the council’s position on a 
sensitive issue. Letters sent to media organisations should adhere to the following 
protocol: 
 

Page 110



APPENDIX A 
 

1. Officers should discuss with corporate marketing the reasons for writing 
the letter; 

2. Officers draft the letter and attribute it to the appropriate executive 
councillor(s) or chair of the scrutiny committee or chair of the regulatory 
committee and/ or director or head of service(s) including contact details;  

3. Draft must be agreed by head of service or director; 
4. Draft must then be agreed by executive councillor or chair of the scrutiny 

committee or chair of the regulatory committee; 
5. Final version issued to media; 
6.1. Final version sent to corporate marketing for information. 

 

41. Party political publicity 
All news releases, news statements and letters to the media issued by the council 
must adhere to the code of recommended practice on local authority publicity. This 
means councillors must not produce party political publicity on council paper or using 
council facilities (including officer assistance). Publicity material must comply with the 
relevant restrictions on political publicity which are contained in section 2 of the Local 
Government Act 1986, as amended by section 27 of the Local Government Act 
1988. This states councils shall not publish any material, which, in whole or in part, 
appears to be designed to affect support for a political party. The Head of Legal 
Practice may be consulted for further advice. 
 
52. Publicity in the run-up to elections 
The council’s employee code of conduct stresses that staff must be, and be seen to 
be, politically neutral at all times. In the run-up to an election it is essential that 
officers do not act in any way that could call into question their political neutrality, or 
give the impression that they are offering assistance to a political party in its election 
campaign. 
 
The run-up to an election formally starts when the notice of election is published. The 
Head of Legal Practice will circulate detailed guidance to staff in good time before 
the notice of election to explain the publicity restrictions. 
 
 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

 1 

 

APPENDIX B: Proposed media management processi  

  

 

News releasesii 1. Initiation 2. Shaping 3. Approvals 

 

4. Publishing 

 
 

Communications team drafts 
the news release including a 
quote from the executive 
councillor, contact details for 
communications team and 
councillor spokespeople 

 

Communications team works 
with head of service/ officers to 
draft copy 

Communications team seeks 
approval for draft release from 
executive councillor  

Communications team 
issues news release to 
media, copying all 
councillors, publishes on 
website, CityNet and 
social channels 

Responding to 
media 
enquiriesiii 

 

1. Initiation 2. Agree type of response 3. Preparing response 4. Response 

 

 

 

 

Reporter approaches the 
council for comment on a 
matter.  

The enquiry should be 
redirected to communications 
team (unless the enquiry 
relates directly to a council 
news release that has recently 
been issued in which case 
councillors may choose to 
respond directly) 

Communications team works 
with head of service/ officers to 
consider the enquiry and best 
method of response (e.g. 
interview, written statement, 
other) 

Interviews 

Executive councillor has first 
option on interviews (and may 
delegate to officers) 

Head of service briefs 
executive councillor 

Communications team 
arranges interview with media 

 

Statements 

Communications team drafts 
statement or other written 
response to include a quote 
from the executive councillor, 
contact details for 

Communications team 
responds to media enquiry 
according to what has 
been agreed 

P
age 113



APPENDIX B 
 

 2 

communications team and 
councillor spokespeople  

Communications team ensures 
agreement for response from 
head of service and executive 
councillor 
 

Responding to 
publicityiv  
 

1. Initiation 2. Agree type of response 3. Preparing response 4. Response 

 Publicity observed during 
media monitoring (or social 
media monitoring) or by 
someone informing the 
communications team 

Communications team to 
consider appropriate action 
e.g. whether a response, 
clarification or rebuttal is 
appropriate and the best 
method of response (e.g., 
letter, social media, web 
rebuttal, written statement, 
other). 

 

Communications team makes 
recommendation to head of 
service and executive 
councillor  

Communications team drafts 
response  

 

Communications team seeks 
agreement to response from 
head of service and executive 
councillor  

 

Communications team 
provides media with 
response  

 

i All council publicity is subject to a national code of practice 
ii This process differs from the current protocol because it places the communications team as the starting point for news releases rather than acting as clearing 
house for releases written by other officers 
iii This process differs from the current protocol because it gives the communications team, rather than the head of service or other officers, responsibility for 
coordinating the response from start to finish  
iv This process is not set out in the current media protocol beyond letters to media organisations. It would be appropriate to record how the communications 
team will respond to publicity about the council arising from media or social media monitoring 

                                                 

P
age 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recommended-code-of-practice-for-local-authority-publicity


 

 
Report page no. 1 Agenda page no. 

 

Item  

Member allowances/Virtual Area Committees/ 

Parental Leave for Councillors 

 

1. Introduction 

  This report covers three topics within democratic services: 

 

Consideration of the Independent Remuneration Panel’s report on 

recommendations for a Members’ Allowance Scheme 2022/23; a review 

of Area Committees which have been held virtually June-December 

2021; and responding to a Council Motion on a parental leave policy for 

Councillors.   

2.  Recommendations 

  Committee is asked to: 

(i) Consider the Panel’s report and recommend an Allowance Scheme 

to Council on 3 March 2022. 

(ii) Receive a progress report on the Independent Remuneration 

Panel’s non financial recommendations in February 2023. 

(iii) Recommend to Council that Area Committees continue virtually for 

March 2022 as set out in paragraph 1.6 

(iv) Note a report recommending a parental leave policy will be 

submitted later this year. 

To:  

Civic Affairs Committee     2/02/2022 

Report by:  

Gary Clift, Democratic Services Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457011  Email: gary.clift@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



 
Report page no. 2 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

3.  Background  

  
Members’ Allowances 
 
1.1 The payment of Member Allowances is regulated by the Local Authorities 

(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 and overseen by an 
Independent Remuneration Panel (the Panel).  Allowances are split into 
two categories, basic allowance which is available to every member of 
the Council and special responsibility allowance which apply to specified 
positions identified in the Regulations and any additional positions of 
special responsibility that may be identified by the Panel.  Special 
responsibility allowances increase because they are linked to the Basic 
Allowance as a multiplier or fraction, so for example an Executive 
Councillor SRA is 2 x Basic Allowance, the Chair of Civic Affairs 
Committee SRA is 0.25 of a Basic Allowance. 

 
 
1.2 The Members’ Allowances Scheme was comprehensively reviewed and 

approved in July 2016, with additions on some minor aspects with 
relation to special responsibility allowances in subsequent years. In 
February 2021, Council agreed to freeze the Allowances Scheme for 
2021/22 at 2020/21 levels.  The current scheme is appended for 
reference and the Panel’s report and recommendations are attached. 

 
1.3 The proposed changes to the current scheme are that: 
 
-any percentage increase in the Basic Allowance is the same as for local 

government employees agreed through the National Joint Committee 
(this replaces increases in line with the National Living Wage) 

  
-those councillors who are members of a Combined Authority committee 

receive a special responsibility allowance and that the SRAs are at the 
same level whichever the committee  

 
-the two Deputy Leaders of the Council receive a special responsibility 

allowance 
 
-the non-statutory Deputy Leader’s role is defined 
 

Page 116



 
Report page no. 3 Agenda page no. 

 

 

1.4 The Panel have made many recommendations (marked R below) 
relating to the way councillors work and what officers should address to 
make the job of a councillor more manageable. 

 
1.5 It is worth noting that whilst the Independent Remuneration Panel was 

doing its work in the autumn 2021 and seeking views from city 
councillors, an assessment of the Council’s decision making and 
governance by the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny was being done 
at the same time, resulting in some synergies/cross-overs.  It is 
envisaged an action sheet will be developed combining the two.  A 
report reviewing progress on each recommendation will come to 
Committee (and be circulated to the Panel) next February. Updates in-
year will be given to the Chair and spokes, and other Members will also 
be involved because of the range of topics covered. 

 
Time efficiency 
 
To increase the efficiency and effectiveness of meetings: 
 
R-Use hybrid / remote meetings where possible 
 
This is being done.  Pre committee briefings, Topical briefings, non-decision 
making fora are all being held on-line.  Hybrid meetings are now possible 
(from January 2022) in the Council Chamber/Cttee Rooms.  
 
R-Use proxy voting if it becomes possible to do so 
 
This will require legislation and the Council has written to Government and 
Local Government Association. 
  
R - Consider pairings between political groups 
This would be for councillors to agree to and advise officers accordingly. 
 
R- Continue to lobby Government with evidence of improved 
efficiency/effectiveness/attendance when using a hybrid meeting structure 
 
There is a continuous campaign run by LGA and Association of Democratic 
Services Officers and Local Government Lawyers on this, most recently when 
the Omicron Covid variant emerged in December 2021.  There is a current 
on-line petition to Government. 
 
R - Consider chair’s training for all – for both the chairs and the chaired – 
what to expect from meetings, agendas, reports, executive summaries  

Page 117



 
Report page no. 4 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
Professional training is offered to new Chairs and Vice Chairs and current 
Chairs. It could be arranged for a larger number if councillors agree it would 
be worthwhile.  We will review the range of training opportunities with training 
champions including the scrutiny role of the councillor. 
 
R- Consider improvements in paperwork for meetings – this to include 
training for officers in report writing 
 
Officers can respond to this internally, however the issue of the quality and 
volume of paperwork for joint meetings and the ease of access to the location 
of those meetings will need to be passed to the relevant Leaders of those 
partner bodies, which we shall do by sharing this report with them. 
  
R- Consider the timing of meetings and length of meetings (balancing late 
evening travel / those in full-time work) 
 
Committees can review the day and time of meetings, usually this is done at 
the start of the Municipal Year, officers would like to understand better what 
changes/improvements could be made. 
 
R - Consider a reduction in the number of meetings per committee and / or 
the number of committees 
 
An assessment by the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny was undertaken in 
November 2021.  Members will be briefed soon on the findings and this 
recommendation fits with this piece of work. 
 
R- Consider whether Area Committees still have a use 
An assessment by the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny was undertaken in 
November 2021.  Members will be briefed soon on the findings and this 
recommendation fits with this piece of work. 
 
R-Increase (and stick to) deadlines for reports and amendments for meetings 
 
Leadership Team monitors performance on late reports submitted by officers.  
The Forward Plan is published 28 days before an Executive Decision is 
taken.  However, there are a minority of times when reports are late and 
explanations are legally required to be given. 
 
Amendments can be put to a committee by a councillor with no notice.  A 
change to council procedure rules would be required if there was to be a 
deadline (like in the case of Full Council meetings) 

Page 118



 
Report page no. 5 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
R- Keep abreast of the opportunities provided by new software 
 
The Council’s Our Cambridge programme will focus on improvements and 
efficiencies and councillor ways of working will be part of that work.  Culture 
change must be reflected and practiced by the leadership of the organization, 
both political and managerial. 
 
Job satisfaction and well-being 
 
R- Introduce a Parental Leave policy – for new babies – to include cover for 
all Councillor duties including ward duties 
Introduce a Carers’ Leave policy – for continued care of dependents – older 
children / elderly relatives / disabled dependents – to include cover for all 
Councillor duties including ward duties 
 
This will be reported in later this year. 
 
R- Consider accessibility issues for all venues and ensure that partner bodies 
do likewise 
 
We will share this report with our partners.  Area Committee venues are 
chosen only if accessible. 
 
R- Consider an exit interview for Councillors standing down 
 
This will be incorporated into leaver’s actions for the EA to Leader and 
Members’ in April of each year. 
 
R-Consider a cross-party ‘youth group’ of Councillors 
 
This is a good idea and new councillors 2019 suggested that cross-party 
engagement for newly elected councillors could be a positive contribution to 
the political culture and dynamic-unfortunately this didn’t happen because of 
the pandemic.  This would be a matter for councillors themselves to 
determine and it need not be formal. 
 
For new Councillors 
 
R Access to information – on-line briefings have been well received as has 
‘who does what’ in the Council. This could be expanded to ‘who to go to’ in 
the City Council and with enhanced information about County officers and 

Page 119



 
Report page no. 6 Agenda page no. 

 

 

other partnership groups as appropriate – to be sent to both new and 
experienced Councillors 
 
Regular officer changes/restructures mean the Who Does What document 
can quickly get out of date.  Keeping a document up to date for external 
organisations would be extremely onerous.  We have a dedicated Members 
Support Officer who is linked into a network of colleagues across various 
organisations and who is there to help and direct councillors find the right 
officer for their purpose. We will explore how councillors can be integrated 
into the Council’s internal library of information, this is being done across the 
other two councils HDC/SCDC supported by 3C ICT. 
 
R Induction training – consider whether to rerun or provide an update after 6 
months 
 
We contact newly elected councillors for feedback in late summer each year 
to see how they are doing and whether they need any updates/assistance.  
We will in future ask about a refresher.  We also liaise with the new 
Councillors and the Member Training Champions as we develop each new 
Induction. 
 
R- Consider further/different training for new minority group Councillors 
 
We will liaise with the Green & Independent Group to establish what 
additional support is required. 
 
R - Consider the provision of an FAQ page for Councillors – this would need 
an officer to keep it updated 
 
Councillors don’t have access to CityNet.  We would need to think where this 
would be and what would it contain.  Are there other ways in which Members 
can get this information?  Members have a dedicated support officer who is 
able to support them. We will explore how councillors can be integrated into 
the Council’s internal library of information, this is being done across the 
other two councils HDC/SCDC supported by 3C ICT. 
 
R - Mentoring – consider formalising a mentoring system for new Councillors. 
This is particularly pertinent for those in the minority group. 
 
This requires investigation with councillors as Groups do have a buddy 
system in place. 
 
In relation to Councillors with SRAs / Executive Councillors 

Page 120



 
Report page no. 7 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
R - Consider different structures of delegation to encourage diversity in these 
roles and to spread the load  
R- Consider streamlining the organisation of the Council 
 
Both these recommendations are for Leadership Team/political leadership. 
 
Case work 
 
R - Initially, to research and introduce case-work software – there are several 
to choose from 
 
The EA to Leader and Members is undertaking initial investigation on this-
members need to be involved.  This will look at self-serve options on the 
market which are low-cost eg https://ecasework.com/ and what use can be 
made of the council’s customer services software. 
 
Expenses 
 
R Investigate the reasons for the poor take-up of claimed expenses 
 
Each year Councillors are reminded of the allowances scheme.  As a small 
district council (in geography) there are less claims for travel.  When 
councillors attend conferences they claim rail travel/hotel/subsistence. There 
is now an on-line claim system connected to payroll where councillors can 
submit claims. 
 
To encourage diversity – strategic issues 
 
R- Those Councillors of working age rely on flexibility in their paid work. 
Consider an outreach to employers in relation to their social responsibility and 
to outline the value that service as a Councillor will bring to them as 
employers, ie training and development in management areas. (This was 
done nationally to encourage employers to support their staff in taking up 
school governorships and was very successful with large and medium sized 
employers.) 
 
This is an action that will be taken forward in 2022/23. 
 
R - Reach out to pre-Councillors – to encourage and give a realistic view of 
Councillor work 
 

Page 121

https://ecasework.com/


 
Report page no. 8 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Every person standing for election is given information about the Councillor 
induction period (May to June).  We will update information on the website 
about becoming a councillor.  There is also a responsibility on the part of 
political parties to be honest to prospective candidates about what the 
workload will be like. 
 
Virtual Area Committees 
  
1.6 Councillors have been asked whether for March 2022 cycle, Area 
Committees should continue to be held virtually (ie. on-line via the Council’s 
MS Teams).  At the time of writing eight councillors had responded: 
 
4 preferred on-line (1 acknowledging hybrid in the long-term) 
2 preferred on-site 
1 hybrid 
1 no strong view. 
 
The Labour Group has commented that there is a preference for virtual 
meetings for now. 
 
The number watching an area committee live between June and December 
2021 varied from 32 to 4.  There is no significant uplift in attendance/viewing 
by holding the meetings virtually, but equally no significant reduction. 
 
The officer view is that the March 2022 cycle of meetings should be held 
virtually and that councillors are consulted again in good time to make 
decisions on Area Committees scheduled for June 2022.  This could mean a 
further report to this committee to consider the issue further in May. 
 
The reasons for retaining virtual meetings are primarily the remaining 
uncertainty over the public health situation.  Also it will not be straightforward 
to find appropriate venues in the local area as there are differing approaches 
to coming out of Plan B, notwithstanding we would normally confirm bookings 
well in advance. 
  
 Parental Leave Policy 
 
1.7 At its meeting on 21 October 2021 Council adopted the following 
Motion: 
This Council resolves the following.  
1. To adapt to suit a Cambridge context the parental leave policy drafted by 
the LGA Labour Group’s Women’s Task Force and to bring the 

Page 122



 
Report page no. 9 Agenda page no. 

 

 

recommendations to Civic Affairs as part of the next round of discussions on 
councillor remuneration.  

2. To ensure that councillors with children and other caring commitments are 
supported as appropriate.  

3. To acknowledge this is only one part of the picture, and to commit to 
investigating other inclusive policies and bringing those recommendations 
forward in the future.  

4. To write to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities to urge him to introduce legislation to allow councils to adopt 
remote and hybrid meetings where they deem it appropriate to do so.  

5. Further to this council's resolution at Civic Affairs on 9th October 2019 
(19/41/Civ), that this council shall continue to apply pressure via the Local 
Government Association and any other appropriate routes to allow for proxy 
voting for local government for those on parental leave, which is not currently 
permissible, despite already being available to MPs in parliament.  
 
https://local.gov.uk/parental-leave-policy-councils 

It has not been possible to bring proposals to this meeting because of 

officer resources.  A report will brought later in the year following 

consultation with a representative from each of the Political Groups and 

taking into account the Independent Remuneration Panel’s report and 

the outcomes of the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny Review. 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

 
On the Allowances Scheme, if the recommendations are adopted on basic 
allowance an increase would await whatever the officer national pay award is 
agreed for 2022/23, but for illustration a 2% increase would equate to £4,376 
increase overall on the budget.  For the new special responsibility allowances 
it would increase the budget by £15,630.  The final figures will be reported in 
any Finance recommendations to Council in July. 

For room hire and audio provision at Area Committees, there is funding in the 

2021/22 budget for March 2022. 

(b) Staffing Implications 

(c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

The Panel’s recommendations aim to address some of the impediments to a 

manageable councillor workload/life balance. In the Panel’s Terms of 

Page 123



 
Report page no. 10 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Reference it requires recommendations ensure that equality and diversity 

implications are considered so that a diverse range of Councillors can be 

attracted. 

(d) Environmental Implications 

(e) Procurement Implications 

(f) Community Safety Implications 

Nothing specific for the above. 

 

If you have a query on the report please contact Gary Clift, Democratic 

Services Manager, tel: 01223 - 457011, email: gary.clift@cambridge.gov.uk. 

 

Page 124

mailto:gary.clift@cambridge.gov.uk


IRP Nov 2021 
Summary 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel has a statutory duty to review 
Members’ allowances and to make recommendations to the City Council. 
 
In November 2021, we collected evidence from Members through survey and 
interview, and by comparison with benchmarked authorities. 
 
The survey and interviews suggest that time constraints are the most 
prominent factor in Councillors’ perception of their ability to carry out their role 
to their own high standards. 
 
A degree of dissatisfaction with current processes was evident. 
 
This exercise has provided a wealth of pertinent information which could lead 
to efficiencies in the processes used by Councillors – and thus aid their time 
management and potentially increase their job satisfaction. 
 
The IRP considers efficient use of time to be within our remit as it affects the 
‘per hour’ nature of the allowances paid. 
 
At a time of significant change in personnel within Council leadership and with 
many newly elected councillors, we believe this to be an opportune time to 
review several Council processes.  
 
Background 
 
Changes within the City Council, in terms of leadership, (both Chief Exec and 
Leader), composition of the Council (with three Groups) and a large number 
of newly elected Councillors (16), together with changes within the Combined 
Authority and other partnership groups make this an ideal time to give thought 
to the efficiency with which Councillor time is used.  
 
The IRP takes the view that, if time spent on Councillor duties could be 
streamlined, this would impact on their efficiency and effectiveness. In the 
long-term, it could also impact on the recruitment and retention of Councillors. 
 
We consider measures to improve Council processes which, in turn, 
encourage efficient use of Councillor time, to be within our remit as a 
reduction in hours spent increases the ‘per hour’ nature of the allowances 
paid. 
 
Other factors which we have taken into consideration are: 
 
Councillors face increasing responsibilities across different authorities.  Page 125



Advances in technology  
A constrained Council budget 
The desire by Councillors to encourage diverse and equitable representation 
on the Council 
 
Methodology 
 
A confidential survey was sent to all Councillors. Ten were returned. 
 
We took interview evidence from 16 Councillors ensuring that we included 
both new and experienced Councillors, Leaders of all three groups, members 
of all three groups, chairs of City Council committees and Councillors who sit 
on partnership bodies. We also interviewed the Chief Executive. These 
sources brought forth a wealth of information about processes and 
procedures. We feel that improvements in these, if implemented, would 
enhance the operation of the Council. 
 
We looked at evidence from benchmarked authorities – our statistical and 
geographical neighbours: Cheltenham, Crawley, Exeter, Lincoln, Norwich, 
Oxford, St Albans and Welwyn Garden City plus all Cambridgeshire District 
Councils – also Cambridgeshire County Council (as local top tier authority). 
 
Findings 
 
Themes which emerged across both survey and interview are: 
 
the amount of time which has to be given to the Councillor role  
the difficulties experienced by Councillors with full-time jobs 
the difficulties experienced by Councillors with caring responsibilities 
the difficulties experienced by new Councillors 
the ‘softer’ areas that could be addressed to increase Councillors’ well-being 
and job satisfaction – to aid retention 
the increased effectiveness of Councillors when allowed to have hybrid 
meetings and remote voting 
the volume and opaqueness of some paperwork 
that Cambridge City Council is an atypical District Council so benchmarking is 
useful but need not circumscribe decisions  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Time efficiency 
To increase the efficiency and effectiveness of meetings: 
 
Use hybrid / remote meetings where possible 
Use proxy voting if it becomes possible to do so  
Consider pairings between political groups Page 126



Continue to lobby Government with evidence of improved 
efficiency/effectiveness/attendance when using a hybrid meeting structure 
Consider chair’s training for all – for both the chairs and the chaired – what to 
expect from meetings, agendas, reports, executive summaries  
Consider improvements in paperwork for meetings – this to include training 
for officers in report writing 
The issue of the quality and volume of paperwork for joint meetings and the 
ease of access to the location of those meetings will need to be passed to the 
relevant Leaders of those partner bodies.  
Consider the timing of meetings and length of meetings (balancing late 
evening travel / those in full-time work)  
Consider a reduction in the number of meetings per committee and / or the 
number of committees 
Consider whether Area Committees still have a use 
Increase (and stick to) deadlines for reports and amendments for meetings 
Keep abreast of the opportunities provided by new software 
 
Job satisfaction and well-being 
 
Introduce a Parental Leave policy – for new babies – to include cover for all 
Councillor duties including ward duties 
Introduce a Carers’ Leave policy – for continued care of dependents – older 
children / elderly relatives / disabled dependents – to include cover for all 
Councillor duties including ward duties 
Consider accessibility issues for all venues and ensure that partner bodies do 
likewise 
Consider an exit interview for Councillors standing down 
Consider a cross-party ‘youth group’ of Councillors 
 
For new Councillors 
 
Access to information – on-line briefings have been well received as has ‘who 
does what’ in the Council. This could be expanded to ‘who to go to’ in the City 
Council and with enhanced information about County officers and other 
partnership groups as appropriate – to be sent to both new and experienced 
Councillors 
Induction training – consider whether to rerun or provide an update after 6 
months 
Consider further/different training for new minority group Councillors 
Consider the provision of an FAQ page for Councillors – this would need an 
officer to keep it updated 
Mentoring – consider formalising a mentoring system for new Councillors. 
This is particularly pertinent for those in the minority group. 
In relation to Councillors with SRAs / Executive Councillors 
 

Page 127



Consider different structures of delegation to encourage diversity in these 
roles and to spread the load  
Consider streamlining the organisation of the Council 
 
Case work 
 
Initially, to research and introduce case-work software – there are several to 
choose from 
 
Expenses 
 
Investigate the reasons for the poor take-up of claimed expenses  
 
To encourage diversity – strategic issues 
 
Those Councillors of working age rely on flexibility in their paid work. 
Consider an outreach to employers in relation to their social responsibility and 
to outline the value that service as a Councillor will bring to them as 
employers, ie training and development in management areas. (This was 
done nationally to encourage employers to support their staff in taking up 
school governorships and was very successful with large and medium sized 
employers.)  
 
Reach out to pre-Councillors – to encourage and give a realistic view of 
Councillor work 
 
SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ALLOWANCES 

The change in Leader seems likely to prompt, if not necessitate, changes in 
the distribution of roles and responsibilities and ways of working. This, 
together with the potential  outcome of the Governance review and the impact 
of increasing joint working with neighbouring councils on partnership bodies, 
make it likely that  any recommendations made on SRAs in this Review will 
need to be revisited within the next two years  

Special Responsibility Allowances 

All Special Responsibility Allowances are calculated as a percentage of the 
Basic Allowance, including those not listed below.  

1. Within the City Council: 
 
In order to allow the Leader to delegate further, it is recommended that an 
SRA should be paid to each of the two Deputies at 25% of an Executive 
Councillor’s allowance – ie half a BA. We recommend that this allocation be 
linked to a clear definition of the responsibilities of the Deputy Leader (non-
statutory) role. 
 

Page 128



2. For Members serving on Executive Committees of the Combined Authority: 
 
SRAs currently cover: 
 
CA Board (10 scheduled meetings May 21-April 22) at the rate of one x Basic 
Allowance 
CA Overview and Scrutiny (8 scheduled meetings May 21-April 22)  at the 
rate of 25% of BA 
CA Audit and Governance (6 scheduled May 21-April 22) at the rate of 10% of 
BA 
 
It is recommended that those serving on all CA committees receive an SRA of 
20 % of Basic allowance: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny (8 scheduled meetings May 21-April 22) 
Audit and Governance (6 scheduled May 21-April 22) 
Transport and Infrastructure (6 scheduled meetings May 21-April 2022) 
Skills (6 scheduled meetings May 21-April 2022) 
Housing and Communities (6 scheduled meetings May 21-April 2022) 
 
And the CA Board Member (10 scheduled meetings May 21-April 22) 
continues to receive BA x 1 
 
Basic allowance index  
 
3. It is recommended, following the suggestion by several Councillors, that 
Basic Allowance be linked to the index used for City Council employees 
instead of the National Living Wage.  
 
For future consideration:  
 
Examine the relationship between SRAs for Group leaders of opposition / 
minority groups 
 
Examine whether Area Committee SRAs should be discontinued 
 
There was a general concern among Councillors that, although the Basic 
Allowance for City Councillors is now commensurate with that of 
benchmarked District Councils, the non-typical nature of this council could 
mean that there are anomalies in the level of Basic Allowance in relation to 
the spread and depth of responsibilities undertaken by Councillors in 
Cambridge. The IRP recommends that the level of Basic Allowance be 
reviewed again in four years – together with the distribution between BA and 
SRAs. 

Page 129



Appendices: 

 
Terms of Reference 
 
To recommend a scheme or schemes to the Council which 
 
i.recognises that councillors undertake council work for the sake of public 
service and not private gain  
ii. recognises in both basic and special responsibility allowances the varying 
demands placed upon councillors, dependent upon their roles and 
responsibilities 
iii. fairly and equitably compensates councillors, so far as the Panel thinks 
appropriate, for the time and effort they can reasonably be expected to 
devote to their work as a councillor  
iv. is economic, efficient to administer and effective  
v. is easy to understand and explain  
vi. recognises the level of out of pocket expenses councillors incur  
vii.has flexibility to reflect changes of responsibilities of councillors during the 
course of the year  
viii.ensures that a benchmarking exercise is undertaken with other 
comparable Councils. 
ix.ensures that equality and diversity implications are considered so that a 
diverse range of Councillors can be attracted. 
 
Evidence gathered 
 
Allowances Schemes of the following Councils: 
Cheltenham, Crawley, East Cambs, Exeter, Fenland, Huntingdonshire, 
Lincoln, Norwich, Oxford, South Cambridgeshire, St Albans, Welwyn Hatfield 
and Cambridgeshire County.  Also East of England Allowances Survey (as at 
September 2021). 
 
Interviews with Chief Executive and 16 city councillors (out of 42) 
 
Survey questions to 42 city councillors (10 returned).  The survey questions 
are at the end of this appendix. 
 
Members of the Panel are: 
 
Jane Phillips 

Jane has worked as a teacher and a business psychologist. She has also 
been a school governor for over thirty years, working with five different 
schools in Hertfordshire and Cambridgeshire. During this time, she has been 
the Chair of Governors and the Chair of Personnel and has drawn up policies 
on governor expenses and a code of conduct for the governing body. From 

Page 130



1992-1995 she was the Chair of Hertfordshire Governors’ Association and 
from 2000-2003 she was the Chair of the National Association of School 
Governors. She is now the Chair of Birdwood Area Residents’ Association in 
Cambridge. In her spare time she has completed an MA in Crime Writing and 
is writing the third book in a crime trilogy. She lives in Cambridge. 

Graham Jagger 
 
Graham is a Cambridge graduate and professional HR manager and 
consultant with wide public and private sector experience. During the last 20 
years he has worked in the NHS at Trust, regional and national levels 
including as Director of Corporate Development at Papworth Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust and as Agenda for Change Director for Papworth, 
Addenbrookes and the East of England. He was appointed to the 
independent NHS Pay Review Body by the Secretary of State for Health in 
2009, responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to government 
on changes to the pay and conditions of NHS staff. From 2012 he was Lead 
Governor, Papworth Hospital NHSFT and Director of Healthwatch 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Currently he chairs the East of England 
Advisory Committee on Consultant Clinical Excellence Awards and is a 
Member of the NHS Reconfiguration Panel which advises the Secretary of 
State on contested service change proposals. He has six years’ experience of 
reviewing a members’ allowance scheme as member and then chair of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel at South Cambridgeshire District Council. 
He lives in Cambridge. 
 
Rob Bennett 

Rob is the independent person for Cambridge City Council dealing with 
complaints against councillors.  He worked as a partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) until 2010 and led the public sector audit 
business in the South and East of England. He is a non-executive director 
and audit and risk committee chair for Flagship Housing Group, the largest 
housing association in the East of England with over 30,000 properties. He is 
a non-executive member of Norfolk & Waveney Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s Governing Body and chair the audit committee and the conflicts of 
interest committee. Rob is the independent chair of the audit committee for 
the Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner, the independent hospital 
manager for Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust dealing with the 
detention of patients under Mental Health legislation.  He is also the chair for 
a local charity which manages a country park on the outskirts of Norwich and 
a volunteer at the Norwich Foodbank. 

 

Page 131



Independent Review Panel to advise on Councillor Allowances – Autumn 2021 
 
Panel members: Jane Phillips, Graham Jagger, Rob Bennett 
 
Questions for Councillors 
 
Five years ago the Independent Review Panel undertook a major overhaul of the allowances for 
councillors. We have a statutory obligation to review this system every four years when linked to 
an annual increase by Index. This provides an opportunity to investigate changing requirements, 
ensures that allowances are appropriate and adequately reflect responsibilities. As part of this 
review we take into account practice in our statistical and geographical neighbours eg Oxford, 
South Cambs and Norwich. This year, we are mindful of the budget challenges in the next financial 
year and beyond. 
 
It would be very helpful to get a wide range of councillor views on the following areas. Your 
responses will be treated in complete confidence and used to inform the Panel’s deliberations.  A 
response to any question is optional. 
 
 
Equality issues and barriers to entry 
 
1. Have you experienced any barriers in carrying out your role as a member?  If so, what are they? 
 
2. Have you a view on how these might be addressed in relation to councillor allowances? 
 
3. Do you have any views on what needs to be incorporated into a Council parental leave policy 
and related family friendly policies to encourage a wider range of people to become councillors eg. 
better child-care provision and facilities; more flexible timing and mode of meetings (remote/ 
hybrid); defined care leave cover arrangements etc? 

 
 
Basic Allowance 
 
The basic allowance currently aligns with the increases in the Government’s National Living Wage. 
Cambridge’s basic allowance is now on a par with neighbours who peg their BA annual increases to 
the local government employee increase.  
 
4.  A proposal is that the basic allowance is increased with local government employee pay (not 
chief officers).  Do you think this appropriate? 
 
Yes 
No 
Other 
 
5. If Other, please expand 
 
 
Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
The City Council is generous in the proportion of SRAs it authorises – 72% of councillors are in 
receipt of an SRA. This is higher than the 50% recommended by South East Employers.  Page 132



 
6. Should the number of SRAs be reduced? Yes/No 
 
7. If Yes, which ones should be discontinued? 
 
8. The City council also allows three SRAs to be paid to any individual councillor. This is higher than 
most comparator councils.  Should the maximum number of SRAs per councillor be reduced?  
Yes/No 
 
 
Joint working with other Authorities 
 
SRAs are paid to some councillors who serve on partnership bodies eg the Combined Authority and 
Greater Cambridge Partnership 
 
9. Have there been any significant changes in joint working since the last IRP review, and if so, what 
are they? 
 
 
Any Other Comments 
 
10. Is there anything else you want to add or expand on? 
 
 
About you … 
 
11. How long have you been a City Councillor?  
1 – 3 years; 4 – 8 years; 9 – 12 years; 12 years or more; prefer not to say 
 
12. What is your age range?  
25 or under; 26 – 35; 36 – 45; 46 – 55; 56 – 65; 66 or over; prefer not to say 
 
13. What gender to you identify with?   
Male/Female/Other/Prefer not to answer 
 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



$4jtw4kxg.docx  

Members’ Allowances Scheme 2021 - 2022 

Councillors are not paid a salary.  However, they do get allowances to cover some of the costs of being a 
Councillor.  The Basic Allowance, the Special Responsibility Allowance, childcare and carer's allowance, 
and travelling costs are set by the Council having noted recommendations put to it by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 

 
1. Basic Allowance, and Special Responsibility Allowance (taxable) 

Basic allowance: This is an annual flat rate payment to all Councillors, intended to recognise the time 
devoted by Councillors to work in their wards and political groups, recognising the level of out-of-pocket 
expenses Councillors incur in carrying out their functions.  It also recognises that Councillors undertake 
their Council work for the sake of public service and not for private gain.  Each Councillor will receive an 
annual allowance of £5,210, and a one-off stationery allowance payment of £75 at the start of the year. 

Special Responsibility Allowance: This is paid to Councillors who have a higher than average workload, 
and/or hold particular positions of responsibility within the Council.  The number of SRAs that any 
councillor may hold is limited to three.   

Leader £14,328 
Executive Councillor £10,420 
 
Scrutiny Committees - Chair £2,084 
Scrutiny Committees - Opposition Spokes (Liberal Democrat) £2,084 
Scrutiny Committees – Minority Spokes (Green/Independent) £1,563 
 
Planning - Chair £5,210 
Planning - Vice-Chair £2,605 
Planning - Member £782 
 
Licensing - Chair £1,303 
Licensing - Member - if they have attended 4 or more meetings £391 
 
Joint Development Control (Chair / City Spokes) £2,605 
Civic Affairs - Chair £1,303 
Area Committee - Chair £1,042 
Full Council - Chair £1,303 
 
Leader of the Main Opposition Group - Lib Dem  £5,210 
 
Greater Cambridge Partnership Board Member £2,605 
Greater Cambridge Partnership Assembly Member £782 
 
Combined Authority Cabinet Member £5,210 
Combined Authority, Overview & Scrutiny Committee Member £1,303 
Combined Authority, Audit & Governance Committee Member £521 
 
Police and Crime Panel Member £782 
 

 

Page 135



$4jtw4kxg.docx  

2. Travel and Subsistence Allowances 

Councillors are paid at the same rates as Officers. 

Mileage allowances are: 

Casual User Mileage (up to 10,000 miles): 45 pence per mile 

Casual User Mileage (after 10,000 miles): 25 pence per mile 

Bicycle rate is based on the HMRC advised rates, which is now 20 pence per mile. 

The motorcycle rate is 24 pence per mile. 

Travel and subsistence allowances are payable for those duties prescribed in Regulations; that is: 

a. A meeting of the executive; 

b. A meeting of a committee of the executive; 

c. A meeting of the authority; 

d. A meeting of a committee or sub-committee of the authority; 

e. A meeting of some other body to which the authority make appointments or 
nominations; 

f. A meeting of a committee or sub-committee of a body to which the authority make 
appointments or nominations; 

g. A meeting which has both been authorised by the authority, a committee, or 
sub-committee of the authority or a joint committee of the authority and one or more 
other authorities, or a sub-committee of a joint committee and to which representatives 
of more than one political group have been invited (if the authority is divided into 
several political groups) or to which two or more councillors have been invited (f the 
authority is not divided into political groups); 

h. A meeting of a local authority association of which the authority is a member; 

In addition travel can be claimed for: 

i) Meetings that are approved Council duties (including site visits); 

ii) Meetings instigated by an officer, which are (or had the potential to be) cross party; 

iii) Training and development for councillors organised by the Council; attendance at 
conferences and seminars that have been booked by officers; 

i. Duties undertaken on behalf of the authority in connection with the discharge of any 
function of the authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or 
requiring the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises; 

j. Duties undertaken on behalf of the authority in connection with arrangements made 
by the authority for the attendance of pupils at a school approved for the purposes of 
Section 342 of the Education Act 1996; and 

Page 136



$4jtw4kxg.docx  

k. Any other duty approved by the authority in connection with discharging the duties of 
the authority or its committees or sub-committees. 

Reimbursement of public transport fares can also be made when attending approved council duties.  For 
journeys by train, please give details of your travel to the Members’ Services office where a ticket will be 
booked for you through the Trainline business account. 

VAT - Please let the staff in Members’ Services make your hotel and flight bookings, as the Council can 
then reclaim the VAT.  

You can only claim travel costs from outside Cambridge if your absence from Cambridge was 
unavoidable or if a meeting is called at short notice, and you have to make a journey which you would 
not otherwise have made. The exception to this rule is attending Planning or Licensing Committee 
meetings, as these take place more frequently than other meetings. 

If a claim is made and an officer is unclear whether or not the travel expense should be reimbursed, the 
officer shall consult the political group leaders prior to approving payment.  If any claim remains 
unresolved, it is the responsibility of the Chief Executive to determine. 

You cannot claim subsistence allowance for duties carried out within three miles of your home or if 
meals are provided. 

You cannot claim subsistence allowance for duties carried out within three miles of your home or if 
meals are provided. 

Subsistence: can only be claimed where meals/accommodation are not provided. 

Breakfast Allowance: £6.72 
(More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or where the authority 
permits, a lesser period, before 11 am.) 

Lunch Allowance: £9.28 
(More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or where the authority 
permits, a lesser period, including the lunchtime between 12 noon and 2 pm.)  
 
Tea Allowance: £3.67 
(More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or where the authority 
permits, a lesser period, including the period 3 pm to 6 pm.) 
 
Evening Meal Allowance: £11.49 
(More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or where the authority 
permits, a lesser period, ending after 7 pm.) 
 
Overnight Subsistence.  
Absence overnight from the usual place of residence: £79.82 
In London, or attending an approved conferences: £91.04 

 

3. Members’ Childcare and Carer’s Allowance 

A Childcare/Dependent Carer Allowance is payable for actual expenditure incurred whilst undertaking 
approved council duties.  No cap shall be put on the overall budget for this Allowance, or on that which 
is paid to an individual member of the Council in any given year. This allowance is set by the Council 
having had regard to the recommendations annually of the Independent Remuneration Panel. The Panel 
considered allowances for childcare and dependent relatives and concluded that it was appropriate for 

Page 137



$4jtw4kxg.docx  

actual expenditure to be reimbursed. The allowance should be subject to receipts being submitted.  The 
member must provide care for a person who normally lives with the member as part of his/her family 
and who is: 

a. A child below school age during school hours; 

b. A child under 14 outside of school hours; and 

c. An elderly, sick, or disabled dependent requiring constant care. 

A Carer will be any responsible mature person who does not normally live with the member as part of 
the member's family. 

Payments made under this scheme will be open to public inspection and the carer must be paid at least 
the Living Wage. 

Travel, subsistence and care allowances is payable for any invitations (except social events) from any 
official bodies.   The Scheme is set so that payment of care, travel and subsistence allowances would be 
such that unexpected circumstances or new responsibilities or activities were covered by default, i.e. 
that rather than having a prescribed list of activities that ARE covered, have a list of proscribed activities 
(that are not covered). 

4. Expenses 

In addition to the basic and stationery allowance, the Council can also provide: 

a. Hire of accommodation for Group Away Days/workshop (maximum of 3/annum); and 

b. Personalised business cards and compliments slips. 

5. Changes 

Entitlements will be payable on a part-year basis in any given year where: 

a. The scheme is amended; 

b. A Councillor either is elected to or leaves the Council; or 

c. A Councillor takes on, or gives up, a position for which a special responsibility allowance is 
payable. 

6. Co-optee’s Allowance 

A co-optee’s allowance of the Living Wage for hours served, plus out of pocket expenses, is available. 

7. Adjustment 

There is an adjustment of allowance levels by reference to the National Living Wage index. 

8. Advice 

Members may receive initial advice on the impact of receiving allowances on their tax and benefit 
position by contacting Mike Scott, Payroll Manager, in the Council’s Finance Team.  However, 
independent financial advice is also recommended. 

9. Timeliness 

Please make all claims within two months. Claims which are received by the fifth day of each month will 
be paid in that month. 

Page 138



$4jtw4kxg.docx  

10. Foregoing 

Any member of the Council may, by notice in writing given to the Democratic Services Manager elect to 
forego any part of his/her entitlement to any Allowance under this scheme. 

24 January 2022 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 External Auditor's Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2021
	Appendix 1 - Auditor's Annual Report

	6 2021/22 Statement of Accounts - Accounting Policies and Significant Areas of Judgement
	7 Appointing Person: Arrangements for the Appointment of the External Auditor
	8 Draft Pay Policy Statement 2022/23
	9 Risk Management - Committee Update
	Risk Management Strategy & Framework - 2021 FINAL

	10 Amendments to the Constitution Pt4A Appendix F (A) - Protocol on Media Relations
	220118 Appendix A Media Protocol tracked changes4
	211224 CAC Appendix B Proposed media management process

	11 Members' Allowances/Parental Leave Policy/Virtual Area Committees
	CamIRP_final
	Members Allowances Scheme, 2021 - 22


